rhis is a tape recor¢ded interview with Professor Leslie
Domonkos fofﬁYoungstown State University ﬂistorians povoject by
Donald Hovgy in Dr. Domonkos' office in the History Departmenty o
May 15 gglgﬁroximately 1:15 p.m.
HOVEY: Wﬁgt I 'd like to ask you to do if I could was to start
out by just giving me a general overview of your life what
has happened to you up to kow,

BOMONKOS: Do you want me to proceed in a chronological
Order?

H: Sure.:= ;Kuéjyﬁ

D: That'Would be most logical. A& How much detael do
you ewatt and whatb?mphasiswib-YOWLfyé®H14¢f“?

H: What I'graike to figure on is about an hour and a half
~getting a basic, general picture and subsequently we'll go back
to various things with greater detail. Obvid&ﬁly, the emphasis
should be on what you feel have been the significant events or

" events . pieeihfreltnssity 1'd like to know what kind of family you
were born into.
D; -diwene. Bk hub.-Esese. So then i.et's start and proceed
in a chronolyoical fashion. Let me say at the very outset
I think, especi&ﬁﬂy my early life, is quite eventfu% probably
more event¥ful thah you would find in most interviews with other

i

(66i1éagu§§:> was born in Budapest, Hungary in 1938, March 14,

two days after Hitger invaded Austria. There were a number of
SN0 P
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people who wondered whether my father would name me Adolf
because Hitler was very much in vogue in those days. My
father being staunchly anti-German and anti-Nazi probably

wished he could have killed the questioners in a stream full

( !/‘:\.—(A/f (thL—\_ "\
- Water:Q%B:few words about my parents. At the time of my

birth my father was an officer in the Hungarian Army in the

rank of K%eu;gnqnt,/nqngtzwaa/Qéptain. 2% my mokher and
-

father had been married a year. My mother comes from a
family froi/xérthern Hungary. The family is what I would

call probably upper-middle class, a family of lawyers, attorneys,
for
and government officials several generations back. My

!

'/thher's family is more humble. They could be described)

petty nobility. /My grandfather was a

I»guess)

ag

,?ﬁstice of the peace in a =ssmsmm small town in‘Nbrthwestern
Hungary. He had gone to college two years, a school of
engineering , when he decided to quit and get married. He had
2 large family . There were twelve children in my féther's
family, although only six rea@hed adulthood. My father's
education is rather unusual since he ended his career as an
}ﬁmw man. He began as an agricultural engineer. In fact, he
received his bachelor's degree in /Aéronomy from @ one of the

Hungariantisgs universities\_,Bht graduated in the x middle of

the gépreSSion and sskpwee there was no employment available, which
— Q}qk*1
was rather surprising in a country that was 89 percent agrarian

e

at the time, Ef/aéaid“some indication of the difficulty world-

wide that the depression of the 1930's produced. = -
-
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(f-—He had gone to school on a plan very similar to the
ROTC program in the United States and since there was really
no alternative, he then entered the military service and began.dA/
a careersﬁﬁmy officer. Eventually we moved from Budapest to
Transylvania and lived there for three years. This is basically
where I became congious of being a human being.

H: How do you know?

D: My memories go back as far as three years old. demd
ghis isgéo way meant as patting myself on the back, but I have a
fantastic memory for things which occurred in my childhood. From
age three on}I rempember things quite vividly even to the point
where even Gﬂ!ﬂty'five years after I sat down and drew a map
of the city where we lived when I was three and four years old'cuh/ca
showed exactly where the main traffic 4 arteries were where my

father's office wasX where our house was¥ what routes to take;
AtlieeAs

where the churches were)and so forth. @&» it is interesting that
I cannot remember things that happened two months ago but these
other events are very vivid. (Laughter)

H: What is the earliest thing you casl remember?

D; I don't know. I can't pin-point any particular event.
B I clearly remember how we moved to the city of Tramnsylvania,

¢t et

how we arranged the furniture, e&@. I very clearly remember how
my parents were indicating to the movers what should go where,
&4 1 was standing around helping them make up their minds, and
generally being a pest. I also remember, eventually, the birth

of my sister and brother who were born in 1942 and 1943, respectively.

During this period I must say that I lived in an atmosphere which
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was peaceful although the war ha#d already begunf and the

Russian offensive and so forth were going on, exit glthough\

on occasion)I saw pictures and when I first want to movies

saw newsreels of the war, this was something extremely far

away until the city itself was bombed by Russian planes in the
o

summer of 1944,

H: What city was this?

('_lu~
zsvar
D: This was the city of Koloohmeasi, which is called ma‘)-hs
'\_—""-————-
in R@manian, it is part of Romania now. This was a period of
7~

ntranquility for me. I grew up by playing with neighborhood
children who were all basically middle::iass, upper middlezzlass
kids. My parents seemed to, a:t least to me, @ be very secures
It looked like this\gkjhow we would be living for the restgof

our lives. My father\at that time)was already talking about

when I was a teenagezygf would send me off to an apprentice to
various craftsmen because he felt that I should learn how other
people earned their money. He was very liberal, by the way,
contrary to what army officers usually are supposed to be. He
was not authoritarian and\in factwbecame more liberal the older
’he became, which is again unusual. He also was thinking of
eventually sending me off to study possibly in Paris or Cxford or
somewhere because he felt being exposed to a foreign culture would
benefit me. He never realized that whether we wanted to or not)

)

we would be exposed rather extensively to foreign culture. =S

ns
basically this,how things were until the summer of 1944,ae& then
= . 2
s therl was gAQ QU heetn =

gf the suprise bombing of the tow?J ahi=h7by-thecwayw1

(50
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remember very vividly, I was standing in the middle of the
window when planes approached the city and I fell and was
yelling, "Look, those are our planes, those are our planes!",
when %}l of a sudden they started dropping bombs and my mother
grabbed me and we went down to the cellar. At® Eecause of the
potential for further attacks my father then packed us up and

we left our house never to return again.

gyéuﬁggfﬁﬁg the attack was primarily at the railroad yard

-

1

and some factories but%also hit the girls' school and killed

e U (AN T
about twelve 9 and 4= year olds. We then went to a farming
estate that my mother's sister had about 120 miles east of
Budapest &= iince this was in the middle of nowhere it was

-
considered to be safe from bombing. This is where we spent four
or five months. I remember this as being an extremely painful

period both for myself personally)and also for my mother. My

\
fatheﬂybeing in the armxehad to obviously stay behind and we lost
contact with him. There was no word whether he was still alive

_or not, &x@ in the meanwhile the Russians had moved in and cut
off Transylvania from the rest of Hungary. My da% however managed
to escape in the last moments and eventually rejoined us.
g%;ersonnally)what made this time of my life so miserable é%uzhe
fact that the climate in this Hungarian village did not appeal

to me at all. I was constantly ill. I was rather a sickly child

to begin with, sort of almost transparenty -amd what is probably most
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ironic is that during this time we were still relatively

rich and had all the things that it was humanly possible to
have. I was the hardest person to feedg I would never eat

my food and would munch away on things like chocolates with
reluctance and so forth. Once, however, we lost everything

I became the hungriest kid that you could find and was always
thinking back oizggod it would have been if I had eaten all
the goodies that I was suppossed to have. ’&vvanywayf'one fine
day in late fall of 1944 my mother received word from my father
‘that he had been able to escape from Translyvania. 1In the
meanwhile however beca@@e of the approaching Russians we too

Iy

left this estate where whfie had been and move’ further to the
./\

west. EBventually them.ny father caught up with us, @@ this

waw roughly in November of 1944. By this time the Russians were

on Hungarian soil and were constantly moving in, T{Fﬁs was
also roughly the time when there was a major change in politics
in Hungary. Admiral Horty tried to create a separate peace with
Russia, tried to get out of the Axis and prevent Hungary from
becoming a battleground. At the same time however a public regime,
Nazi regime, imposed by Hitler took over. .&aw_gecause of my
father's notorious anti-German, anti-Fascist stand, and because
he was considered an undesirable, he was given some kind of
little desk job somewhere. He was a major by this time and
fairly
probably would have had a xExx successful career in the army had
these iyents not occurred. We were stationed in a small village
1

about }6 miles form the Austrian border and this is where we

spent ouxr-last Christmagéin Hungary.
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H: He was actually detailed there?

B: Yezh} /That's right. By this time, you see, Budapest
had been si@rrounded by the Russians. A’Gérmanldivision, some
Hungarian troops decided to defhéﬁ the city ;né the Russians

decided they would make an example of it'amd Budapest then had

a q@b&e longer tham Stalingrad, over two months. They really

—————————— R =

e

shot the place up something fierce. énce Budapest fell add the
Russians were on the move again, with each successive day the
confines were becoming closer and it became evident that we
would have to leave Hungary. wa‘the only reaenn, actualiy why
we left was simply to a¥oid falling &% into the hands of the

Army.
Russian BAEmyx The main reason)and this unfortunately is not

propaganda and has been borne out over and over again by

Swedish Re Cross reports and all you have to do is read

YAN'S Boal

Cornelius &3§Qﬂﬁlak on the fall of Berlin)is the fantastic

amount of rape that went on and the senseless killing of
innoéﬁﬁi;individuals. h&ﬁigy father said‘jLet us leave and
hopefully by travelling wé;¥ we will be captured by Americans®™
E¥ Then the war would be over and the Russians would go and
we could return home and since he had done nothing in his life
which was illegal, immoral, and he was a good Hungarian,his place
was in his country, rebuilding, after the devastation.

Basically with these views we left Hungary under the
assumption that we would be back within weeks. Our leaving
the place was very traumatic. It was assumed that the unit to

which was father was attached would receive motorlzed transportatlon

i —
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and trucks and what have you that were actually available.
In the last minute, however, the German,a}my in their
tremendous flight from everywhere confiscated every motor-
ized vehicle and we were left there with absolutely nothinga
whereupon a group of peasant vehicles, four-wheeled carts, were
Tequisitioned from the local peasantry and two families shared
one peasant cart. This is basically what we came wa away with.
H: Horse-drawn?
D: Horse-drawn carriage with a little boy, a farm boy
‘who was taking care of the animals, and another family and us.
Now this gives you some idea of the amount of material goods
that we were able to carry off with us. It consisted primarily
of_diapers for my brother and sister and the things we had on.
«Aﬁanphotographs, picture albums, paintings, and all the things
that my father and mother had accumulated during their seven
years of marriage were left thind. ~Again, yith the idea that

1

we would be back and we"iiupick these up and where#ber we'

go we'll start life anew. «We left Hungary March 28, 1945 ,

the town to which we left two o'clock in the morningy/ fell to

b

the Russians at eight o'clock in the morning. This means that

e

as we left in long columns, thousands, hundreds of thousands
of people were in various vehicles streaming out of the country.
We could see burning villages, towns. We were struck by planes

l°w-flying planes which then just machine gunned the columns as
[
they were leaving. , No military targetswém there were .hardly

anything.
[

' £
el g~ These were Ru551anf§§%£ﬁ§??
'

'
|

/ ol &

V.
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D: No, they were American planes.

-

-

H: _Ané& they were spraying)z; the civilians? . e o
il = | e

&

D2 Xup+m¥é§ﬁ{ In fact, two vehicles beforeﬁﬁs-was an
©1ld ambulance with the biggest goddamn red cross that you can
imagine. Arnd along came an American plane and shot the hell
out of it. Bu£, you know, Geneva Convention rules weren't

being followed by anyone.

H: It was a wonderful thing that you happened to get to
Switzerland?

D: Yes. .And maybe 1911 get to this later. There's only
one group that kept pretty close to the Geneva Convention and
that was the British. Anyway, we left under these cif%ﬁmstances
with the Russians really very, very close behind us. It was
not uncommon after days of travel to find refuge in an Austrian
farmer's barn and in the middle of the night wakened by my
parents and told we had to go on because the Russians were in
shooting distance.

H: Coujg you actually hear the advancing troops and the
movements?

D: Oh yes. We couldﬁthe bombings, and shellings, and
what have you. .And there was constantly the fear that some kind

of motorized units would cut off the highway before us and we

would be trapped. Fortunately this was not the case.

H: The Germans did not attempt to keep you out did they?
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Di: Oh) Bell no. The Germans-were fleeing faster

than we were and on occasion German tank columns would come

and they would push the refuﬂglees physically off the road.

I remember a German tank EENXRYXRAXKKXHX unit coming ®g past

us and one of the horses got scared, pulled the cart [ot) the

side, the cart fell into the ditch,and a §®m women and three

children died right there within thirty minutes because there
Y
was no medical aid.\ﬁ&t was also a frightening time from antoher
y ‘
point of view and séﬁething that will alwaﬂ&s @ haunt me,— =
sometimes even now I will wake up thinking about it or
dreaming about it;{?he Germans were herding fairly large
units of politicél prisoners. These were Czechs, Slovaks,
Hungariansfjﬁkranians, on foot. A few guards with auto-
maticﬁ weapons andnhefefﬁefé these emaciated persons, the
kind you would see on newsreels and films about the
survivors of Dachau and Buchenwald-were being herded on the
highway . and I remember they were always asking for'handouts,
although by this time we didn't have much eithery) I told you
what we had, ¥what was on the cart. I remember my mother
and father gave them food and bread whereupon German soldiers
would@ come around and hit them with the butt of their guns in
order to get them away from gpErRRIX®xXX receiving food. R&RXsm I
also remember that this is what w=rkxzmr bothers me very mach.
There were some who just couldn't make it anymore and were so
tired whereupon one %of the guards would take them behimd a
bush or a house and you would hear a shot ring and the guy

would come back alone. I always wondered what dsm@ absolute
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hopelessness and tiredness a man must feel when he knows, and
any idiot knew in March or April of 1945 that the war was over,
that it is really maybe tné'miles he has to walk yet, or maybe
the next morning the Russians would catch up and maybe liberate
him, but he says, "No, I cannot go on any longer", and have to
be taken behind a bush and shot like an animal.
H: Why do you suppose that the Germans insisted on moving
the prisoners?
D: Probably because some kind of order was given to herd
‘ :504‘2@4 nr ) :
these people and so the t and ten soldiers that were in
charge of this detail;”Ehese were the orders that they got in
October of 1943ia;d-seﬁ$hey were going to carry them out.
It was April of 1945 and they were still cariYing out these orders.

‘%m@ they had already marched twelve-hundred miles. So anyway  to

£
£

turn to something more pleasant, eventually we were able to

transfer onto a Hungarian army truck that was carrying & condemned

.

deserters, also for some strange reason, to Germany. I must say
that they were the most pleasant group of people with whom we had
ever been associated. We transfered whatever belongings we had onto
this truck that was parked right beside us on the highway.

H: How long had you been escaping at this time?

D: Oﬁ/about a week or ten days. <And this truck was js@t
parked beside us and my dad beggpAexchanging words with one
of the officers on the truckr%ﬁﬁ ésked him if heé had room for

five more people, not really knowing at this time what kind of

outfit this was.

T i T R T AR
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=And the guy said, "Why don't you come over, we'll take you."

So wé‘just threw things in and the column began moving’ amé %t

was later that we found out that these were all deserters éhat
were condemned by court martial and were already in prison
somewhere in Hungary but when the Germans advanced they took them
on a truck back to Gérman# So in this very pleasant cempany we

were able to escape from the immediate war zone. Af@ they took

us some distance, all the way to the Austrian town of Lin}z.

-

This was as far as this column went. There were about four or

five trucks. Se we arrived in Eiﬁig_and my father 1 ooked

- -

around to see if there were any other Hungariani#rmy units around.
By this time there were units all over, German, Hungarian, Ukranian,
all kinds of units all over the damn place. V
H: Were these free Ukranian units?
D: Yes. These were freeg Ukranian units. My father found
some Hungarian unit and said, "Well, here I am with my family,
can you do anything for us?" -“And one said, "Well, you can have a
cup of coffee", and that was about\it. As my father was talking
to this fellow officer I looked out the window and there were two
horses with a carriage standing there. The horses, however, had
come all the way from Transylvania and the only way they could
stand was by leaning against each other. They were leaning
against each other in the courty&ard. ™89 my dad asked if he could
~
have the two horses. “8@ he got the two horses and he took them out
to this German peasant, ga&e him some cigarettes,and in returqy{

this German farmer then fed these horses until they were able to
)

stand on their own éﬁﬁflegs,?aQQF%é then continued our journey%\

= 7~
/

b7
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Lyﬁtil we came within eight miles of the border of Germany, o
the border town of Passau, a very famous and beautiful
cathedral town. -—And asfwewweaewcgmingkiﬁxbfPéﬁsau(ﬂyy this
time the war zone £s ggisiderably behind us and thé roads axe
pretty clear,“here we‘aié, my father, my mother, and the three
of us children and some little énlisted man who was driving the
wagon. We were coming down an incline outside the city of
Pasgau when we were buzzed by a group of Russian planes. The
horses began stampedingj they were unable to étop and the cart
"had no brakes or anything, so down this tremendous incline we
headed at full speed with hhe horses completely out of control,
until we finally crashed into a tree which upset the cart and
almost killed my father. He was left completely unconcious and
later we found that he had sim of his ribs broken, three of the
wings of his vertebrae, severe concussion, and was not expected
to live. This was on a Sunday morning outside of the city of
~EEEEEE—and here we were on thé side oflfhe highway with our
belonging strewn all over the place,btﬁe horses had run off,
4. There was a farmhouse nearby bﬁut they were off to church, so
we were faced with the problem of what to do. So my mother went
rout to the highway and tried to stop somebody to get assistance.
Well, nobody would stop. You know, you think today people are

heartless, well I guess they were just as bad then. "WH&il f}nally3

*

she decided that she was either going to get hit or she'd stop

someboedy, and she stopped a German tanker truck, oil tanker. The

guy came over and looked at my father and said, "Well, this guy

S——

~isn't going to live anyway , and I can't take the responsibility
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of putting him @n my e;rt, but I'll take fou to Passau and
maybe you can get some help! So mother then left the three of
us children with our faﬁﬁ}r, who wamn't even concious lying
there in the meadow, and went off to get help. =S80 she went
to Passau and found out theee was,;é'Hungarian milisary hospital
unit in the city and so she went there and asked for help.
However/when she described where the location of the accident
was, she was informed that this was eight miles away form the
place kxk and their jurisdicaéion was only five mxkx kilometers
“afid-‘thefefor ,they couldn't come out and do anything. It
sounds likémgimy anywhere doesn't it? SinceFI guess at this
point’mohher said some unkind things about the Royal HUngarian
Arpy uand its establishmen®; a doctoxywho had some feelings
in his heart, took pity on her and decéded he gould go out
there on foot with her. As they left the hospital they also
found two stretcher-bearers and one of them knew somebody who
had a cart{aﬂé they finally arrived back whgre we were located
with a cart, stretcher, doctor, and two-ég%ggkxgna. Anyway ,
by this time the people from the farmhouse had come back and
had taken my father into the housagnd laid him out on the bed.
5énafsaw that he was very sick and they called the priest. 2Amnd
Yhen my mother stepped into the room the priest was giving the
iast sacrements to my father, thinking that he was going to die.
Bhe doctor then tock a look at my dad agd immediately kxarxpmd
and we

transported him back to the hospital aBée got whatever we could

together, put them on the cart and returned ourselves.

S e o W S S e o
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than

C%(&o sooner did we arrive at the hospital ar# there was an
air raid and we werevﬁgiFeQOE%T%o to the cellar and stay there.
Since there were nos ¥¥S, no antibiotics, no pain medicines
at all, the only thing they could do V%gjéh;; said ," If be is
going to survive then we better do somethzﬁg for himjand they
took tape and taped up his chestj fB{g thick tapey Then they
put him on a bed and said if he survived, fine, but &% that is
all that we can do. The h%ﬁpital was in an old Jesuit Vﬁ@h sghoool
with walls roughly about a yard and one-half thick. It was
built in the seventeenth ammsy century, Et was a J8¥E Jesuit
College. &@lithis is where we were and té;;;g;gghﬁggiand this

is where the en?éf the war reached us. Unfortunately however, o
= Germanezjix‘J;éx,.__lgggifzza decided, this was the

beginning of May 1945, that they were going to save the Third
Reicht by fighting for every house and window in Passau. -A#d

fortunately the American Army came and

surrounded the citx;}began shelling it. The American Air Force
began bombing it and the Domonkos’spent time between cellar.
There was this huge cellar, there was about 3,000 people in it)
Ays entery

,E§phoid fever people, vy people, everybodyg people were
dying right and left from gun wounds, from sentéry>and what
have you. And we were all there together. /My father being too
i1l to move was left up in one of the wards with the windows

open because of the constant shooting and constant explosions.

Sometimes we would go up there f@ there was a lull in the fightingk

R e £

awarwe would sit on his bed. _2#=d if it got too bad and the shots were
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too close then we would all scurry down to the cellar.

Hiz Leaving'pWour father up there?

D: Leaving my father up there, yes. He couldn't be moved
in his condition.

H: Was he conscious at that time?

D: Oh yes, he recovered his consciousness and was obviously
in considerable pain with his injuries, but he managed. The
seigg)I thinkjlasted for about days. The room, we had a
room upstairs on the fourth Hﬁloor where we slept on straw. It
was not a direct hit, but this ﬁc/again/gives you some idea abkout
the construction. The room was absolutely destroyed) /5ur sacks
of staws on which we slepgﬁyour few meager belongings flew right
out the window. There was nothing left in the room. The
next room however you would never tell that the building was
even #hit. It was airtight.

H: It was stone?

D: Oh stone, the walls wx®m were so thigk that you could
put a bed in through the window opening. It wa%:£nbelieveable,
vaulted qeiling j So anyway, thlsﬁgzzzf;n for mé&be 10 days or
even two weeksp I am not so certain. Until finally the Americans

N ~ l}fsz L G proiicols (’)
- 228 able to capture the town. &3 my first encounter ‘was a

very pleasant encounter. We were é;wn in the cellar and in
came an American soldier who had been wounded in the-arm. He
saw theVré% cross on the building so he came‘ﬁgj uThe fact that
o) potia
there was a hugh red cross on the buildin%’didn't g?évent it from

being hit. -J#Now I am not saying that it was hit on purpose, the

fact is that it was hit by Germans, Americans, or whoever, but

\

4

\L o
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it those days I guess it just didn't...

Q™ e . iy ks
H: The Germans Weren't actually using the building?
e ’_—_/

T Al
D: There were no Germans in the building, no. “®hre was

not one German in the building. &fd there was not one armed
Hungarian in the building either. Ié-was~gnﬂmot a matter og$t
just being used as a cam_ouflage for a machine gun nest or anything.
H: Well, if it is a big building, it is a lot easier to
hit.
D: Yes, it was a hug%’buildinghand %t stood out and everybody
was shooting and it was bombed, yesf%?éoiﬁzi American came in
and he was bandaged ¥up by the Hungafian doctors. «<m#d as he was

' leaving our beds and cots in the cellar were very close to the

exit.

he saw my brother who at this time

-

was about two years old, plajing around there on the floor and

he picked him up and he hugged him and kissed him and put him

-

down. &» that was my firsé;fxposure to Americans, and as I said

it was a pleasant one. ¢&®7éventually the siegems was lifted,év“/(

-

i

the Americans came in. This then also meant that there was a
considerable improvement in the food supply and whatlhavelyou.

ﬂEEﬂJEather's condition improved to the point where he was
e

- ©yventually released from the hospital and was given some kind

of paper that_he should triazzrgeek some kind of recuperation

HSsAU

outlside of we went out to a Bavarian village
~

o

and moved into a farmer's house. Not into his house because
\

wefi were foreigners and he woulé?let us in. He did however give

up a room over the pig sty and this is where we spent the summer

of 1945, with my dad recuperatinqéyiﬁﬁ/ye were making plans to

~—

T T——p————

e
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return to Hungary. The fighting was over.
H: What were you doing for money to livew during this

b o TS

D: There was no money, nothing . My mother and father

period?

would get up in the morning and go from peasant to peasant

and would begw ,Kﬁ egg here, a quart of milk there, and so

LS =B -
forth. This is how we were able to-extst Dad was barely able

to walk, he was unable to subsist anymore.

H: What did you kids do?

D: Well, we ran aruound and picked berries in the foresg(

/Aﬁa helped the farmer with his gardeq:)asé>in freturn we would
9et a pancake or something. They were very stingy people. But

not because y%,were Hungarian. There were other German refugees
Silesra
from Hamelburg and °a1651ﬁh—11v1ng there and they were even more
S + At L
stingy towards them. 1In fact)they were nicer to us# than“to °

their own #kind. They were just horrible stingy people, that

is all. ;ﬁgo while all of this is going on, my parents are making

é&ans to go back to Hungary. In fact, my father went to a

nearby camp, Hungarian camp, where they were processing people

to be shipped back to Hungary. In fact, because we were a family

~with children, they had accommodations where children and women

would be put into rea;lar railroad passenger cars while men and
L

older boys over }Z would be in the cattle cars,amd they would be
i

then sent right back to Hungary. One fine day in the fall of

1945Iwe already had tickets and everything for the railroada

e left this Bavarian villagé?\ The mi~nute that we left, some

other German people mmoved into ouff house. We went to the
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railroad station with the expectation of finding a train and

then going. Because of a shortage of croal there was no

train there and ;zﬁgcouldn't go back to the village because there

was no place for us. So we went ®mto this big Hungarian camp

and this is basically why ﬁ#m here. Had that train been in

the station, had we boarded that train, obviously\we would have

gone back to Hungarga God only knows what would have happened

to us subsequently.C%Ihe fact is that when we then entered this

camp, we stayed there waiting +hese for subsequent trains because

o~ ol na do :

. other trains had already “pudded out. We hawe to wait until
Qirerabs

some future trainvin which we could get on. Se7time-began—to

\pads. amd as time went bylstories from Hungary began to circulate.

EWe found out that usually when a train entered into Hungary

at the first railroad stationjthey take off all former army

officers, all government employees, teachers and people like

that. =Aﬂ€';hey are interned for an indefin;te period until

they are is;ued their new passport and what have you. Now

since we really didn't have a hom%;f{he place where we had lived

wb W e
before the war was net in Romania;"’Sénce there was no place

for us to go, and there was this chance of my father being

taken off the train, even for as short a period as a month
or two, it became almost impossible for us to go home and face

the uncertainty. So we said let's wait and the situation will
o0

become”huttleq:)the Russians will undoubtedly move oute a

=
=

truly democratic regime will be established and everything will

be just fine.

S

H: Was this someting that the family# discussed?

i Bt o ST

=
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D: Oh yes.
H: You didn't hear about this later?
D: No, this was discussed. Well at this time I was
seven and my mother and father confided in me why we were doing
this. My brother and sister were rather young then.
H: They explained to you what they q%é doing?
D: Oh yes. So we stayed in this camp. The only problem
here was that this was under American military authority. This

was an American occupation zon e of Germany. Amné the Americans'
-

-

attitude toward Hungarians, it was not hostile, it was not

A

friendly, it was just benign@§ neglect. £& ye didn't have any
food. We still had some old connections in’the farms outside
of where we/?sed to live and father used to go out there and
tryto scarechp ome butter and eggs and what have you. Well,
that didn't go. hen my father very cleverly, and I hé#é(no
apprehension about him doing this, my father became a black
marketeer, which was something that had to be done if you wanted
to survive. So among other things my father sold his lucre

to an american, his binoculars to another American. Not for
money)because that wasn't worth a damn by now, but for such
things as Camel cigarettes, chocolate bars)and so forth. Zhen

gy father and I had an agreement, he would make the deal, I

N

would then go and sell this in the barracks. I would go ¥up
and gdown the barracks and yell, "Gémels for sale, éémels Eor
sale" or "Hershey bars for sale, Hershey bars for sale" and I

would sell this for very high monWey, becﬂy@e it was black market

AT s

e S et i A A
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money, which in turn my father took and went out into the
countryside éﬁﬁdbought flour for us from the German peasants

and so forth)but paying outrageous prices for which we had we
been caught we would have obsviously been punished. But everybody
was doing it amdxkkeExmfmxs

H: Was this in the camp?
< HosusanA

D: Yes. There was at about this time 164000 Hungarians in this
>
camp and also a large number of Jewy who were being shipped to

™M
Israel. So with their somewhat return to normalcy pahe Germaqs,
(min cundy)
we soon found out that my mother's sistegﬁWas living in a

: web |
prisoner of was camp. Where we were was (a prisoner of war camp

but just an old German Luftwaffe camp that was being used to
. however
transport Hungarians back to Hungary. Thease people were
S { [SL
actually in a&prisoner of war camp in the British occupied

section of Germany near the German city of DﬂsseldOrf%. Al

my annt wrote to us how wonderful it was there because the
g .
Englis%,being the kind of gentfﬁén they are, not only do they
’}/V\Q/h/\ u_/‘ﬁ: M A
paxprovide #er#all the earthly goods, such as bread and milk,
a
and necessities but they were even paying the salary of the
), Q Uri22,
captured officers. It takes the Britis‘K)Vt'o do’ this kind of thing.

My father havintg heard this Basneg decided that the best thing

J
for us to do was to become prisoners of war. So having sold
his binoculars for a carton of Camels , he went down to the local
German station master and rented three regular cattle boxcars

and with the help of friends we outfitted
HEBIREXENkExkkedxkRemxwxkx them with beds and stoves
and everything in these damn things and addressed ourselwes to this

camp. 2m@ for five Smmmsexor six days we ware being shuttled and
~ :

/
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banged and shoved back and forth across Germangyuntil we finZally
arrived in this camp. When we got there, my dad and a number of
other men who were in this group, presented themselves to the
officer in charge of the prisoner of war camp asking to please
be made prisoners of war. The commandant of the camp was a
Scottish captain with kilts and all the‘associated goodies. He
was extremely polite. Since.ggé outranked him, he was only a
captain and Dad was a major, he was very differential and so forth.
So he asked them if #jthey had any side arms and Dad had long ago
- sold it for Camels. -An@ he said, "Well very fine, but we insist

that you wear your uniform because you are a prls aer of war."

- //

4And we are delighted to have you a.ndfgusmcomed we entered the

prisoner of war camp with watch towers and pbarﬁiwrég gﬁéﬁgga;
have—yeou. The only thing was that although it had all of the
outside features of a prisoner of war camp, you could go in and
out anytime that you liked. All you had to do was to indicate
that you were going to‘Dusseldorf to do shopping or whatever
and you could sign out. _Aaé& they knew that you would come back

L
”~
4

because the outside world was very curel.
Question can't be understoeg) S

; e i 5
D: I don't know if the captain Ereceived a battle cross or

something for hi Eifve y in action. But the fact is that here

o IT} 747 s ~ho
were about 0 Hungarlan officers whese senior officer‘was a

FY

Ssmmmmd.icutenant, General, or whatever) And families and

enlisted men) ,Kl kinds of people. The guards consisted of I

- r
.:..,o\"'"“’ .(\"’14,

thlnk)about ZD;?eenxe~ahdﬁthat;wasuaﬁz4?950 we stayed here for

W
-—about'% months enjoying English hospitality to the fullest.
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They provided us with surplus blanketé'and everything that wzris

were treasuresx in those days. We didn't have anything. @Unfortunatellf
bowevef)the government of England and the government of Hungary
decided to sign QVagreement preliminary to the peace agreement.

Once this was signed, and this was in the fall of 1946, the

British captain called togethg{feverybody at this place and said
"Eéntlemen, there &ﬁ'no longeivéﬁgs state of war between your
gqvernment and mine.® *on October 10th I will withdraw my troops,

AAeaL
and you are on your own." This was the a”kdeet news that anybody

2 B MOnERt
could have ever imagined. ay I at this point stopiand go back
and talk about something about my education.” I began school in

Y#rpuse
Hungary, but by this time Ywe were constantly moving already in

:
B B S
Hungary, 1t was ratheraunorganlzed kind of 1nstruct10n)"Whefe

for about g or 3148;%hs I would have a teacher and she would then
teach me the #fundamentals of the alphabet. Then we would move
on and I would learn & numbers somewhere else; A's and O's in
this town and T;s and G's in another town. So this is how the
first year of my elementary education began. Then when we lived
in this camp in the American zone, there was a camp school there.
There were so many children and families in this camp)elementary
school was established and I went into the second grade there.
53 ke s :

Tha//was from roughly January i¥f 1946 to <twes the school ygar/¢
and/%inished the second grade. By that time I knew how to read
and write. This other British camp that I went to in the thpgrd
grade from September to November, that was it.

H: Are these Hungarian teachers? *kz%r

D: Yes, these were Hungarian teachers‘,All of the students

~
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were Hungarian and we learned wh;g I guesiiyou would under
ordinary circumstances for the first few years of your elementary
grades.

H: Do you remember anything about any of those teachers?

D: Oh yes. There was one that I liked very much who
inspired me greatly ﬂithough she was very severe. I also

%Jb“ : ) . (.I:LJ/'CL S

remember” Hungarian schools as being extremely deei§£*ned. In
fact disciplineé/almost to the point of cruelty. For instance,

in the second grade you had to know your multiplication tableﬁa

all of them, one to ten, all of the tables) /Tﬁe eights, #sevens,

all of them. =And_iigyea—didﬂ*t—knvﬁéhigz B teacher would saxg

T

Aseven times sk eight”. If you couldn't reply immediately

A & é :
fifty-six, you gotkséégé%éﬁ your hand with a ruler. So you

knew your multiplication tables by the second elementary grade

)

forward and backward. ﬁﬁa_?nybody could arouse you in the
middle of the night and sagiseven gtimes eight and you would
answer.

H: Was this accepted by everybody?

D: Oh yes. You didn't file civil suit against the teachers
for cruelty or anything like that. This was perfectly acceptable.
So now with the end of this pleasant English camp, we were then
thrown at the mercy of post-wbrld uEr German bureaucracy. <&
;Pe camp was broken up and various families were transportg%g

UALto various towns and cities in the vicinity. Strangely enough#,

<l . about seven or eight families picked at randoglwere put in a

-

——

#huge %alley in a small town, again not far from Dussel-

dorf, his is where I first met my wife. She was among

gt



HOVEY 25
those people there. 1In order to receive some kind of privacy
in this bowling alley, we would-iz;QQBup blankets to try to
create departments or compartments I used to think. These were
very sad days in a way)"yé didn't know what would happen to

us and what the outcome of all of mour efforts would be.

H: How did your parents seem to you to feel, obviously
they were upset.

D: No, if there is anything that I learned from my parents
is that even in the most £difficult times, they somehow or ’
anotheE were able to look upon life in érpositive manner. You 2?3
know, ¥ I consider, here was my fathe | O

>
at the hg}ghth:of his physical, mental abilities, with a career

years old, really

Completely destroyed with a country that he loved taken from

AD [),g,a.
him or being forced to leave. My mother was grown up amd‘'very

pleasant , as I said, upper-middle daébs, not rich, but very kﬁu)’

J

well-off situation. To be forced to live over a pig stysfz; AHJIJ.Q

I remember we had a cook, and we had a maid, and we had a

butler\and then all of a sudden they are out there at six o' clock,r
""' )/

in the morning going from farm to farm getting a carrot here and g:ﬂ
@n egg somewhere else. It must have been extremely traumatic for

them. ®ABE they never expressed bitterness and they never expressed

a feeling, "lpok how great I could have been, or how‘§¥ good it was
for me and then all of a sudden this." There was no self-pity.
H: No tears?

D: Never visiBle no.

Y

H: You never saw your fmother crying during this whole

thing? ——
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D: No. WMshe got gray, but she didn't cry. Look, I wasp

seven, eight years old, ghet-wasH.A4L my greatest loss were my
toys. My nice electric train and all that kind of stuff. Am8 =

all of a sudden I was in a situation where I would have given
-
a—

at least yeérs of my life or half my soul for a rubber ball
to kick around amé~pdex and play soccer with. We used to take
urt~ NIP<

rags and tie them togetherYand kick it around. Anything that
would have bounced, I would have thought it was the greatest
damn thing that ever happened.

H: There wdﬁ@'t any feeling that you were having a good
time doing this? I mean, you know some people talk about the
‘in dagéaster situations?

Cgma raderie
D: There is that, because even though ®as I said, these

were sad times and we were without any of éie simple things

that you consider absolutely essential for civilized existence,

such as a roof over your head}QStillisomehow or another, my

mother and)for exampl%)my wife's parents)

in the evening and talk. #md talk pleasently and joke and
-~

would get together

carry on. gﬁﬂ»z_don't think it was sort ogsphony front in
order to drag tgeir mind away from the unpleasantness of
- everyday existence.
H: What did the kids do?
D¥s Kids,piay, kids carry on. We 1earn§"‘<‘iirty German words
@nd made faces at the German kids and $thr§w stones at each
other and this sort of thing. So thatﬂyere actually sort of

minor ethnic fights between the local German kids and this

Qesiiegrd P N
of Hungarian lewd by yours truly. We

— s g D

g e

=1
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would g, out there and fight.

H: Were the boys street fighters?

o

Yes, this was tough. We threw stones at each other
and said*§§§§g£§i§&%§fﬂ things, which we really didn't under-
stand. At this time most of us were monolingual. Being in
German}ffr such a short period of time and being mainly in
Hungarian camps, we didn't have a chance to learn.

H: But you knew if they would turn around...

D: Oh yes, and we filmade them gthrow stones back%{ g6 we
knew that the desired effect was achieved. So this goes on
for about a month until all of the kids in this street gang of
this big bowling alley received an infection of measles. _Amd
Ehen all of us were &l#en carted off to the university hospital
ig Dusseldoxrf to the quaé?gne ward. This was the first time
that I co-habitated with $yny wife. We were in the same room
about five beds down, there she was, along with aboutf fifteen
or twenty other kids.gﬁﬁg;, to make a long story short, eventually

after all of these disasters, we then pxmsmssids® received two

very small rooms in a house) ,Zn a small village outside of

Dusseldorf>amd lived there for the next two years. Now, this is

1946, 1947, a period of tremendous poverty in Germany) ,ﬁith

T
FLRALCAA A
rrasee)

industrial plants completely bombed out% e German ricémark
gloosing alllof it's buying power or almost all of it. There
was very poor quality food. There was a time‘for example, in
three months we only saw a pound of meat between the five of us.

Then, however, things began to improve somewhat, mainly because

e e T e = e e e e

e TR RET I - m%k:;-:{% o
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again'my father very cleverly went into black marketeering.

But this time on a big basis qg&n 1947 he began iznning kind
LL-[LV /’1r~

of shuttle between the éwlss boarder and the-;g:al-valley in
o amd A
Whjich he would take 2-¥72 million Sewing needles from Germany
and sell them xr across the boarder by Switzerlandy #Ameé by taking
L7 ]
the risk of being apprehended on the train and by sheer fighting
on the trains, because the train service was aktrocious. But

hﬁ%§1w0mca

by doing this he would make a million and 1/2 marks. Now for a
million and iyg%%arﬁs you can buy a good pair of shoes or some-
thing like that. But it was something that prevented us from
being completely on the poverty level. Amé in fact, as time

——

went on because of his efforts we were doing rather well. Then _
beu.L (Lma-/:f, el 7
they decided to bring in the new mar®, the _ el jwhlch is
still in existance. 2XdX That then ended black marketeering
from one day to another, that whole thing coﬁapsed.
H: Was he smuggling or black marketeering?

D: Bjack marketeering. He wasn't smuggling across the

Rrricazu
boarder. He gave it Bto somebody in Frlbur and
g Y g BEYQGQW ”f

H: Was it under a price controls system?

D: Under the new system there were price controlsSfurther
more\)4é§erybody started out with 120 marks, that was all you
could get. We had money by the millions of the old stuff, but
We couldn't convert it into new capitol.

H: There was no conversion of the o0ld money?

D: You could only convert so much.8smxw So we lost millions
of absolutely worthless stufffiz§o in the meanwhilo}i:nce we

were living flhere in this German village I entered -this German

gt g S
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school and had to begin as a first grader. Between 1946,
the fall of 1946, and the fall of 1948 I was a student in
a German elementary school. 2Asd@ during these two years.I

= sohi¥ Hhoroug A

finished four grades. It was a very good) very Eﬁgﬁglgh school,
just as autocratic as the Hungariaﬁg. There was a no-nonsense
kind of attitude. But what resulted from being immersed into
really a German surrounding is that in 1948)if I would have
talked to anybody, nobody would have known that I was not a
German. I spoke the language as well as any kid from Dusseldorf.

. T > —
H: WIth a German accent? I Jé f PA'\ d&A}fSQA

D: WIth no German accent, the

‘,yes. AT this point

then, my mother and father,because of connections that they

7

had, were able to get a job in the French zone, occupation zone

of German;( Down in the area of the black forest and the vicinity

of Firburg and Brystow. &and so we then packed up, left the

English zone)and went down tg-the French zone where my mother ,
and father began working in an institution for displaced-person’a-ef o
children. In other words, children mmuch like ourselves. But
since thgre were thousands of'displaced—persont families of all
kinds in West Germany.)zzéé various military occupation governmentﬁ)
and the new one, put up money to establish institutions, homes,
where children would be sent to be fed well, good mountain a}r)

and so forth. So after living in dﬁgps for years and going

through all kinds of horrible 8% brat/onf thev would able to be

U
strengthened to the point where‘their parents immigrated, there

A )
would be no problem of them having Meta et/ __and so forth.

:{680 this is where my father became a gym teacher and my mother was

e —
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a kindergarten teacher.

SAa
H: Had thex taught before?

Dz Nd} /éﬁt having raised three kids, this was considered
\

5by the way)turned out to béa
\

suppurb kindergarten teacher. Although Dad's g,m teaching

to be ample preparation. <Amd Ehe
=

consisted of doing drills , he had no army, he developed into
-Pu("hio(abu.
a formatible guy instructor. They knew how to grow in the
new surroundings. The commandant of this children's home was
L}
a chauvanistic French/Z%dyﬂ who felt that the only culture that

) At
S

anybody/?haid have is French q&ature. Ead if you didn't drink

— ‘OC'S
it with your mother's milk, you should quickly'make some kind

of arrangement to get it somewhere else. So she insisted, she
told my mother and father that she would like for me to be sent
to a French schoolr) Wﬁich was a great idea. A?/that time, I
didn't think so because here this meant learning a new language .
ut being exposed to French culture, going to a f;;nch school,
whielr I considered to be the nicest period of my whole school
career. It was really tremendous.i%&/found rench schools to
be superbly run..2 )(fine combinatioﬁ of using incentive to
force students to learn and also a fine combination of order
and di%&pline on one hand and creativeness on the other. At
least from my experience)I went to subsequently to three different
french schools. The Erench school system is superior at least
on the eleqsptary grades to anything I have seen annggre. So

—

I went to érench school and I didn't know a word of firench.

/.

By sure persegverance and by being -emforced to learn because I ::D
wasn't the.-only non... there was two other kids tggz.q;so their é;

—— —
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parents worked for this outfit. ’71“0 UL ﬁ,dL)ﬁﬁLdl'

H: Did the teacher speak German?

D: No. Even if they did, they wouldn't for two reasons.
Number one, they wanted us to learn French and number two,
they hated the Germans with such a passion that they would néver
.admit that they were ,German. So I went to school there and
learned the basics.ﬁﬁéventually my mother and father were
transferred to another French institution of this kind and I
centinued in another French school. Let me put it this way ,

- Im—twe—ypears, in three years, 1948 to 1951 I was able to finish
six grades in the French school, having started in the first.
This was’by the way}the third time that I had started. First
in Hungarian, then in German. But they pushed me ahead as I
learned the language.

H: Did they cover different subject matters in the different
schools, besides #rag the language?
D: Well, basically/the first few years there is really'lngi
that much difference except in such areas as history for example.
Obviously,the history that I received in the French school was
basically a strongly nationalistic E}ench history. The greatest

man that ever came around was Charleméggg who was not Frankish

but French. ﬂMB~the creator of a new Europe and the crusades
=
were all organized by Frenchmen and won by Frenchmen. So it was
a very interesting introduction.
H: Did that nationalistic difference in the #leducations
strike you at the time?

D: It did. s#ms& again, q@@vone of the tremendous advan-

tages I had was that I could always go home and explain to my
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parents, "gpw this is what we did and this is how this was
z

taught." _Andfgy fatherjwhglunderstanding of history was
extremely deeﬁj very very deep, in fact almost that of a pro-
fessional historia%] =Bl would then be able to explain why

a ?éenchman would interpret something in this fashion while a
German would look upon it in a different viewi)/zhd why this

is so. 'remember one timeffﬁb;as eight years old and while
father and I were going off to do some shopping or wh‘géj;ver-f’
since we had no other mode of transportation other than walking)
X@ had to walk two or three hour%*fiﬁé told me, for example, the

)

whéle Congress of Vienna, and the whole Napoleonic Wars,and the

2 e ,,
o ighteenth ofggfgmalrél , and how Napole@gn came to power) /ﬁhd

the German confederation, and the Battle of Nations and the
Meternick and the,Mew Europe) /Kf the age.of eight.

H: Were you interested?

D: Oh, tremendously. In fact]again if there is any one
thing that I am remember very vividly even back in Transylvania
when I was a kid\))fhe very fiﬁ;ﬁxstories that I rémember are

not about Snow White and the 7 dwarfs and all that nonsense, it

was about Stephen of Hungary and Louie and various

S R e L
individuals in Hungarian history and world history. These are
the kind of stories that Dad would tell me for bedtime stories
instead of the frightening things about dwarfs coming out of
QiE?Si. So I think my love for history probably has its origin
here. At a very, very early age.

e D RST \TAPE

e T AT e DR e s
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ﬁOVEY: Lgast time you were telling me about your education
in the French school and your walks with your father discussing
Some of the lessons that were being instilled in you. And I
think we have gotten your education all the way throught the
;ixth grade. -~ This is the second interview in the Youngstown ~
‘State University Historians Project with Dr. Leslie Domonkos
in the Arts and Science Office Building on May 28, 1975)at

\

approximately at 1:00 p.m:/ What I wondered if we could dq,LesS,
today would be to continue as far up to the present as we can
det. Just get a general development of your life, your school

interests ete.

—

B e g :
D: Eime. In 1951, my parents finally were able to get

immigration permission to come to the United States. So after
a long and rather dehumanizing medical check-up and going to
Varjous camps)we were processed for immigration and sent to
'Raymond.______ywho was in Germapy) 'ﬁo embark for the Egélaglﬁ%(
states.

H: Dehumanizing?

D: Yes. You know, the kind of thing where you are herded
like cattle and examined like cattle to see whether you are
worthy to enter the United States. If you had an ingrown toe
nail, this might prevent you from coming here. Obviously

the United States was only interested in the physically fittest

e i A O
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individualag) The —faes-thas many people were ill, had TB and
so forth which they acquireé/during the war and so forth, this
obviausly did not interest anybody. You were the dregs of
humanity. Ypu should obviously die somewhere other than in the
United States. We were fortunate that there were no major

aen france

médical reasons for denial of entérance to the United States.

So we got our permits and left in August of 1951 on an

American Troop €arrier Shismp called the Samuel David Sturgess,
' , forey i © )
which had taken GI's for occupationalVvduty in Germany and on /£

BRa return trip took several thousandd @# refugees of all

’

descriptions) Ukranians, Poles, and an awful low of Jews,

. . A
Hungariang/and what-have-you all cramped into tight quarters.
H: All of you were going to the United States?

D: Yesg

3
H: How did you gey} aZlong with these didderent groups@ﬂ%&iéﬁﬁ@’
D: No problem whatso’ever. You know, having been exposed

to many nationalities, kids,and parents, andadults) during Tme O4A

;
variouss;:;,as: in camp.) AZnd during the time that we were at

this children's camp that I dismcussed in my last interview)

I had gotten to know all kinds of lnﬁtionalities really. We

got along excellent. So on this ship they sepé&ated men and women.
goy children over twelve, stayed with their fathers,” women and
small children were grouped sep:}ately. So in huggé stéate

rooms they had four or five hundrenl men“ Xhree and four bunks
aboue each other. This is §how we were herded into the United
States.

o ¢ e ® i it .
—====H7" That is how you felt, that you wree being teeated like
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cattle?

D: Basically, . Although theoretically the United © _{/
asically, yes oug eore l?,u,m:};,.., iy Q\I{M UM/
Nations was IRO, International Refugee Organization.V The=s -

dsoplarid piori

was supposed to be resettling #and they
Lg%é"c;upposed to see to it that they gggttreated as human beings.
I really don't think that this was the best possible way of
bringing people across at the time.
H: You don't feel that it was necessary?
D: No, I don't think so. No, it could have been done
@ Jrcency
in far less crowded conditions and with some degree of deceficy
and privacy maintained. To give you some idea, the American
naval officers would go on &mme "inspection tours" of the
fepale quarters of the ship\)/Khd would open up toilets awhere
women were sitting)and enter into showers while women were
showering1 Things <eswe that are obviously unnecessary. I do
realize that one has tomaintain order and cleanliness and
j‘,.ucj/k* '}"JQ
di c1 line, but there are ways of doing this. I~ xathlnk there +s
(NY =) 4'{1 beat
-e—bettex’way of accomplishing this.
H: Did the refugees protest that at all?
D: Oh, yes. Well, you know, among these people were
university professors, doctors, lawyers, in many instances
were of the most intellectual classes that this country has ever
received as far as immigrants are concerned.
H: They ;#gahn elite group?
D: Yes. g I don't maintain that you should treat people, of

peasant§ ancestfry like dirt and give people with college
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backgrounds:different kind of treatment}‘/3ut I don't really
think that you have to treat everybody like dirt just because
they happen to be homeless.

H: It seemed almost deliberate?

D: I am not sure. I don't think it is a vicious policy,
I think it is basically — == . ||So this is then how we
arrived in New York City/after nine days of Atlantic navigation.
We moved into New York Harbor. I do remember seeing the
Statue of Liberty. I must say that it made an impression on
me. It was a moving experience. It was also a very frightening
thing. Here we were, a family of sfive, all of our posessions
in six or seven suitcases, and to arrive in a country with a
different language}with really no relatives, with nothing to
go on, it was éiﬁﬁfkf diffiecult.

H: No relatives?

D: No, we had no relatives.

H: You didn't need a sponsor?

D: Yes, we were sponsored by a old Hungarian couple from
West Middlesex,Pennsylvania~),Kho not knowing us, but through
a mutual friend had signed the affidavit of sponsorship. -hme

)

Ehis is basically how we came to the Shenango Valley. &= gfter

-~

being processed out of the ship on a sweltering day in August
of 1951, we were put on a train in New Yersey and directed to

Sharpon, Pennsylvania.

H: That is near West Middlesex? Js ﬁg
Ihet

D: Yes, West Middles&x is about five miles £rem=-Shargon.

e o st e ey
— —

e i
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It is a community of roughly 150.

H: Fantastic. And nobody in your family spoke ér:glish
at the time.? You spokem‘)f;rn;ages.? ¢

D: Yes, welllthe linguist in the family was my mother. She)

besides speaking Hungarian also spoke éerman, she went to a
-

)
éﬁrman high school. She had studied E;ench in high school, so
Bshe was rather good at that. igﬂ‘fhe grew up in a Slovack
language area, so she sEboke Slovacg, and could understand
Russian and Polish. So she was able to get along rather well.
- Dad, was basically not very talented in languages. He spoke
German, but?giz;e:‘horriblép Hungarian accent and then proceded
to learn English with a horrible Hungarian accent.

H: How did you get along in the United States?

D: Well, it was a rather difficult and trying experience.
After living with this sponsoring family for four fidays, the
Roman Catholic priest,who had really been the one who got us
fhe sponsorship, took my father down to the Sharfon STeel
Corporation to get him a job as a laborer. Because here he was,
he spoke no English, he had a degree in agriculture at a Hungarian
Univeristy, but w?;ars hagt lapsed since the time he was a

Student and the time that he arrived here. And besides, there

was the absolute immediate need of @finding some subsistgnce

N
on which to live. .
|
H: You were penQ%}ess. 3
D: That is right. In fact, we were not only penn;les%/ o

but the National Catholic Welfare Organization paid for our trip
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from B New Jersey to Sharyon, we had to pay back to this

organization this money for the train tickets. It is strange,

for examplg,the Jewish World Organization which also sponsored

refugees gave at the peer, $500 4@ to each arriving Jewish

immigrant never to be repaid, so that they could get stfiAted.

The Catholics paid your way and then asked for the money back.
H: Is there a lesson in that?

I think #there is.

Was your fmAily Roman Catholic?

Yes.

m o9 om g

Fhren g}d your father go to work then in the steel mill?

D: Yes, my father started working in the steel mill about
a week after we arrived. Aund.Ehen shortly there after, after
Labor Day, we were taken to a ;chool in Shary¥on and enrolled

. Hurkun amd o)

as students. At that time, I was l3=emé @2 years old and I was
put in the first grade, and my brother and sister were in the
first greade too.
What kind of schoel was this?
An elemengary school, ProsREEFi Elementary School. jy

——

A public school?

O = o o

Yes, a public school. I was a first grader for four

hours.) From nine to one.at which time they realized that since

)
my lanky frame didn't fit into the first grade pews, I had to

be moved to something bigger. Although my gaglish had not
improved in those four hours, I was promoted to the second
grade where they could find larger benches. So here I was,

M%-l—ezm

age 13, having had mathematics already in the beginning algebra

e
— e —— g



HOVEY | 39
levei, having had geometry, Frencg’and world history;abilities
in three languages., And I was making O's and A's and figuring
things out such as farmer Smith has two apples and farmer
Brown comes along and gives him four more, how many apples
does he have? So, I'll say this was againk somewhat unnerving.

H: But she wasn't concerned with you?

D: Oh, the teacher was a lovely woman, §he tried very hard
toTell me that dog means an animalf:;ii four‘iegs and goes
woof-woof. iilcgoon I began to catch on and after I would ng
about six weeks, after I had mastered the very basics, the fourth
grade teacher in this very same elementary school took a liking
to me. Besides, I stood out like a sore thumb among all those
little kids. So she took me into her fourth grade ‘class®f§om
that time until Christmas vacation, I was a fourth grader. And.
she was the one who really began to seriously introduce me to
2 and
the English languagei_’ to American history,.. Afs I remember iher
extremely fondl(?-én fact,I still write to her e;;ry Christmas
because I think sﬁé did more for me and for my morale at that
point that is immgingable.

H: How did she do this?

D: Well, she used to give work to the students and then would
ask me to come up to her desk. She would explain words individually
to me to try to show me various picture books and what have you,
and major incidents in American history. She encouraged me to

participate in the Thankgiving program at the school. Ame all

in all, gshe really went out of her way to be helpful and to

I e o
i.;ava-("«“""‘" e -
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build up my vocabulary so I could go on. Then when Christmas
came during the vacations, we moved from Sharfon to Farrel,
which is a twin community, =demd vherig; was put into a Catholic
Pargchial School in January. -&&d they transferred me to the
fifth grade. I was akewt a fifth grader for about two days.
Then I remember there was a @histroy lesson on Charlemggine.

T
And I think I knew more about Oﬁ'QLQWWQQKi.then the sister did.

So she was terribly impressed and promoted me to the sixth grade.
I was in the sixth grade for abeout three weeks, and then the
sister in Rthe seventh grade decided that maybe I belonged there.
So I was gpromected to the seventh grade and continued that year
to the seventh grade,”1in one year actually finished seventh
grade. I must say though that thsk experience at this Catholic
school was one of the worst school experiences that I have had.

H: The worst?

D: Yes. I found the nuns to be l&ess than ‘charitable)a-d
especially the principaljwho was also the seventh and eighth grade
teache@é/k&sed to push me around and call me the dumb kid from
the old country.

H: Was this a woman?

D: Oh yes.

H: And you had been in a religious school before?

D Furthermg;e, having been brought up i#%ost-war Eurcpe

te

“ry

L was practiced roughf§ly thirty years before
it became fashionable, it was very difficult for me to accgépt this
basically very puritanical, narrow, Irish;Catholisﬂm,Which

exists in the Roman Church)or existed in the Roman Church in the

JpT———— S P
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United States. We were liberal everything back there.
Even for example, both of my God- pavapts are Lutherans. One
of the sisters heard that and I'had to wash‘dézt’off the floors.

H: Was this just a matter of religious instruction or
attitudes or did this p%g;ade to other things too?

D: Well, all I know, this woman disliked me becgause I
was an immigrant. And what is most remarkable is that she too
was an immigrant of the religious order of nuns where I went to
school, were Eblish immigrants. It was aigZIish order. Amd
Efybe her parents were born in Poland, I am not sure, maybe even
she was. A-é'zou #would have expecgﬁed understanding and
sympathy,and i;stead I received ridicule. Comments 1ike,§dumb
kid from the old countryfcertainly don't make you feel wanted
or welcome.

H: Did this bother you? - I

D, Yes, it did. It bothered me to the point where I wasaw

a4 group of nuns belonging to the same order when I was working on

my-dégg:;;e at Notre Dame--There used to be nuns comlng there in

the summer for all kinds of retreats.— -L_saw_a buneh—ef—these muns

.f:mm_thészafﬁggfinﬂLl—s;aaeed riding my bicycle and I pulled up

to them and I said, "Do you know this and this sister, she used
to be in Pittsburgh?" And they said, "Oh, yes do you have a
Message for her?" And I said, "Yes, I do.® *Tell her that the
dumb Kid from the old country is getting his PhD, from Notre

Dame."

H: Do you think that that had anything to do with getting

your PhD?
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D: No, there were other reasons why I was mad and I got
| my PQQC)Hell)we will get to that. So next xyear when September
rolled Q;Qund, instead of going to the eighth grade, I was put
into Farrel Junior High School, a public school, as a ninth
grader. And from then on, my education was uninterrupted and
orderly.

H: Why did your parents want to put you in Farrel Junior
High School?

D: Well, since I skipped eighth grade, which would have
been the last grade in a Catholic School that I could have
gone tog, there was no parochial high school anyway. Besides,
I was so turned off to this religious business that I was very
eager to go to a public school. In fact, I liked public school
very much. At the time, I felt convinced that if I had a Earg
chanc?-ehat I would have my children go to a public schoolgy
ﬁécause this is the place where they gwould be exposed to people
of different cultures, races, colors and what have you.

H: Do you think that that is important? .

D: Yes, I think so.

H: How did you feel about your studies in Jﬁnior high school?

D: Actually, it was a rather good school. I still had
difficulties with English , after all you must remember that
at that time, I was only in the United States for one year, one
Year and a month. So e§pecially in English composition and
things such as writing themes and #loutlining sentences and
analyzing words and so forth, I was still a little rusty. But

here again, I found some very hef%éul very kind t®eachers who

i T Sy
B -
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were willing to help and who took personal interest in my
welfare and helped me out. Se—atthough E:never went to eighth
grade in my life. I 1left in the sixth grade in the French
school and finished #half a year in seventh, and never went
to eighth. Although my education up to that time had been
rather choppy and often interrupted, at least I was very happy
that finally it looked like

/
weooul {
1 wiii’not be moving and we would be able to finish school

and fortunately it turned out that

without any difficulty. -du&ifhis is basically what happened,
after ninth grade I went to H;gh school in Farrel. I graduated
in 1956. I was by no means a good student. In fact, I guess I
would describe my studies at this point as being rather mediocre.
I did well in those subpjects which I had an active interest in.
Such as History, languages, I took French and Latin. I did
horribly in mathematics and the sciences. é=d one of the things).
which again this is not solid justification or.;xplaining away
failure, I think that the year and a half imxax that I spent

in adding up how many apples farmer JPnes and Brown had, sort of
killed my whole mathematical incentive. Awd ever after I became
intellecfually lazy and did the least amount ;f work in math

and science. To the point where in Algebra Ilw }@as able to

finally get straight C's. In Algebra IT I got straight D's. And

)
W :
then real disaster str’ck with Chemistry. First of all you have

LMK L
to be Qesngood in mathematics to be able to work formulas. You

(1]
should be interested)and number ¥, you should learn the valences,
which I never did. Asms so)“one six week grading period, I got an

o
-
F on my report card, which I consider to =be sort of a turning °

St —
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point in my aacamemic career. Because I went home, and when

my father saw that I had a D in Algebra and an F in Chemistry,

he told me that I would never amount to anything. That I would
at Lt

probablyYgo down to Sharfon Steel and be a laborer pushing a

broom for the rest of my life. Amd he said that he was absolutely

’

was with a college education sweeping down at Shargon Steel, but
Bk
he said that there was nothing that he could do albout it. -Amd

disgusté%ﬁith me, I had let him down. Fhe—faet—that here he

-

yé%-could do something about getting yétiself together and

~ making A%ife for yoS;Zelf in this country. So since he said
that I would never amount to anything, I decided to try to

show him that I could. Amd Ehe lastg year of my high school
career, I did far better thaé the heemesymaxs previous two. In
fact, I missed being an honor student by ff%eo of a point> Ahich
probably hurt me more than if I had missed it by two or three
points or anything like thaty For the simple reason that it was
80 narrow a miss. I saw the student?gitting on the stage at
commencement and I knew that I had more brains in ﬁy head than
some of those #kids and here I was sitting on the main flo

but not on stage. cﬁ":EhiS bugged the hell out of me. ;Z§§
graduated in 1956. A-i:élready in my junior year, I had gained

employment as a stock bey in a grocery store. It was a large

chain which recently went out of business here)called Ldiblaws.
Seb
Prior to my Loblaws stere, I was yard boy)and gardener_ and house

)

painter, and wood refinishé?;)and all kinds of odds and ends jobs.
that I did really since about the age of 1l4. So at my job at

Loblaws I accumulated some $money already. My parents did not

—— e e
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have the economic resources to send me to school. <CD'Ehere

was never)by the way any question that I would go to college.
I am absolutely convinced that even when my father told me that
I would never amount to anything, he knew that I would go to
college, M but I guess he wanted to get me off dead-center and
get mzwess moving. S@mssmee I had this part-time job where I

ut
worked "24 hours a week at mimimm union wages. Therefore)it was

)
very lucrative. Since I was tied to this job,hsince there was
no other monetary resourse$ that I could dip into.> Jdhere was only
mfEy one choice of schooling and @that was Youngstown.// Now as
far as deciding a upon a career, when I was still in Europe and
even in the first year or two in America##, besides being very
much interested in higg?ry, I always wanteld to be an architect.
Now, I have some’;iﬁgiiﬁe abilities in the field of gart and
drawing and painting and so forth. #wd I alwayéﬁﬁggﬁdll had
a fairly good imag%nation for thinking about building projects.
In fact, building%gﬁch éiﬁz; fg?inate me. I can go down to
variaous projects on campus and still look at the place fui%
hours, figuring out just how this place is going to look and
why and so forth and so on. & I always had this frustration
I gue&g}of wanting to become an architect. But it became quite
obvious that anybody that is getting straight D's in Algebra IT
is not really cut out to become an architect. Amé it was not
really a matter of second choice, because hifory through out my
Whgble high school career was still my first leve. In fact,

instead of doing my chemistry homework @like I should have I

was taking out books from the FArrel Public L¥brary under Greeks,

e e o
T T i e i,
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“urrer Romansv\medieval historx,all kinds of nonsense flike that.

#® I was constantly reading things which have no rel%&éhce to T
ALADEMIC
high school ao;nediz involvement, and to a large degree, that is

-

the reason why my high school record was far mfrom being

owpen I came to Youngstown in the F@ll of 1956, I enrolled as

a hi;tory major with the idea that I would go on to get a PhD,
in history and I would becomj?g college professor. So from the
Very first day of class, my aim was to someday get a PhD. This
is very unusual for a freshman. They usualiy have to feel their
way around and have different levels of aspiration. But my aim
right there was to go¥ get a PhD, and become a professor.

H: Whagoﬁéd;\it attractive to you? Were there any problems
with the life style? —

D, Well, first @of all}the realization that actually I
would be doing something and would be getting paid for something
which I considered to be a hobby. And I think life has.ZKE%EZ -
me out. &m& I think this is one of the reasons why I am basically
a very happy man is that I do eight or fo@%ty houfst a week)
or how many hours I put iE)something &which other people would
consider a hobby.

H: Is this something that you just get a lot of fun out
of doing?

D: I%éét an immense amount of pleasure out of learning.
4ed I got an immense amount qf pleasure out of studying history
and related fields. 'ﬁéégl;gg; I was a history major, I also had

a major in French. I had a minor is sociology and a minor in

German.

- A R S A e
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H: And you enjoyed studying all of those things?

A

l
D: I enjoyed studying all thesgjfact., I took extra
)AA—Q 6,:\,”2/

courses in anthropology. I was even interested in

Wi
of

ecnomics) Mainly because)to some degree all thése things that
deal with humanity related back in one way or another to history.
I was also very much @interested in lit%%ature. Although I

was still working 20 to 24 hou?iﬁi:??qF at Loblaws?yzy that time

as a produce clerk and later ®#®'produce manager, whatever the

hell that means) I was still able to do an awful lo& of reading.
- &m@ what really amazed me was that here I was deimg—things—that-

4—‘£éna%éyé;%%was getting college credit for things I enjoyed
doingv /Thinéé that I had been doing to a large degree since
my sophomore year in high school. Here I was readingdﬁgggg

da é for the second time and getting college credit for this
in communication)and doing marvelously. So what even surprised
me is that even in the courses in the sciences that I had to
take; “I had to take biology and zoology, I did fairly well.
So my college career I\can honestly say’was very successful
grade-wise. It was a matter of personal enjoyment. Although I
hag really no social life as faﬁA§§Y§Eﬁ Sg}lege was concerned,
becaué I commuted from ShaqfonVabout,3»or ékgimes a week /Ahd
then proceded to go weewmmsl® work whenever 1 wasnot here 4
studied during the night amd in the morning and in between
claéses in the library. It was still basically, with all of the

RAYPALANS
—everrts hussle, it was still an enjoyable process. The-fact-that

i} o »
I got credit by examination for a whole slew of féench and
.ff",iJ\‘:‘ JIA

German \.classes, plus as—I=—said) ytook an overload of usually
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18, 19, sometimes even 20 hours, semester hours of credit I
was able to graduate in three years. I got out of Youngstown
with a AB Degree #Emcum {ﬂUtXE -

H: What did you think of the faculty here, what kind of
education did you receive?

D: That is a very interesting questionr Bécause I always
maintained, looking back, that I received probably as good an
education as I qnguld have anywhere. Although, I must confes%F
that I felt a little apprehensive when I went éz;fto graduate
school at Notre Dame and here were all these kids from fancy
eastern colleges competing with me. That is when I really
realized that I did get a damn good education. I hadLne great

/

advantage. dh:&:ghat is\again)usince my parents were intellectually
oriented and my father had gone td Eﬁ; university in Europe and
knew about academic life, I placed a great deal of emphasis on
the selection of my professors. In other words, I didn't select
them according to when somebody was teaching a particular course.
=But- I went to the university catalogue, looked at the man's

name, went to the library hopefully trying to find something

that he haélwritten. Again, in Europe, if you become a prof?ssor,
you usually haég.four or five books to your niaé}before yoﬁggt;n
allowed near a university to teach. Well, obviously these kind
of productive scholars were not running around by the hundreds

at old Youngstown University Campusx /Bﬁt there were a few that
could have and would mms= stand up to any other faculty member
from some big name institution. The,History,Depqrtment was

_,L)’ ¥ido
particularly strong, even then. The fact that jtime, I think

R L AR P DA, sttt i
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four out of the six men teaching full-time in the history
department were PQD:S from Chicago) I think this is a good
indication.
ﬁgéiaere they?
D: Dave Behen, Al Scardon, there was a man called
o Bulrugh
Vern &1ITIG5w. Actua11$ the courses that I am teaching now were
taught by a German. By the way, Vern and I then became @very
good friends. #md he from quite early on recognized that I
had this ambition of becoming a college teacher and he then
procéﬁed to write in my behalf, lettersof recommendation, trying
to get me into Chlcago He was very helpful. So there wasT>1¥¢

Llutfugk‘
Behen, Scardon Bitlew, and a man by the name of E, D. Smith.
He #;:t off te/I thlnk,Nebraska or Minnesota and ran for the

Senate from there. A man who has written a considerable amount
Nink

on J1Sth ﬂ%ntury American héstory. Oh yes, a man by the mmame
of Steven Fulkerson, who also taught here, he was also from
:’)Juu. WAL
Chicago. ¥ Five out of the six people. By the way, the years
that I was student assistant to Morris Slavin as ene of my
professqre; Morris, at the time was still steaching at Woodrow
Wilson High School. <@nd he was finishing his diéértation at
Case Western. Morris hag a very deep influence on me in
opening up new ideas concerning the French Revolution, inter-
pretations of the French Revolution3 ,Partlcularly about people

‘—"“ 3 AL J/LI
like, .

-, Sorel, Mat o thevsoc1alistVOf the country.

\,_)” \."’{v
4}1;Yern Bid3dew, also, in fact of all the people, probably Vern

SR, /
Bi-ddow 1n€3@enced me more than anybody else. Vern was a liberal

in the nobelest tradition of the word. <wd I think I had iiberal

o BTN EN Do s i o a0
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tendencies to begin with basically because of my rather
cosmopolitan background. Vern then showed me an example of
the type of liberal that I wish I could become. I don't think
that I will ever make it, but wish I could become. Here is a
man who out of conviction lived in a ghetto area. Here is a
man who fought valiantl%’when this was by #no means fashionabls, —
the local banks to allow blacks and minorities,4§panish speaking
people, to buy houses outside of the ghetto. Here is a man who
besides his own two children, adopted a Korean orphanv1a black

a)\n..w-&

orphan child. All in all, he was a truigbhumane individual.
él 1thout%mak1ng others

Without being ostentatious &taboutk
feel that somehow or another-%é*va;e not living up to their
liberal reputation by not doing things that he é@lé%ing. So he

was really the kind of a man that you would M

| s
the classroom he was br1 iante as a scholar, he written some

W b 5»' ‘[“aim.ftl-

very fine worka' He also loved sex, which I guess to

him. He wrote-a history of prostitution which Kwas ba9 et

terrible. X He now wrote a history xof feminisﬂﬁiwhich is also

bad material. But whenever he wrote m®mserious works, he did

superbly well. He did é%ot of work on Oxford University and the

medical school there. He was interested in things medically. His

wife was a nurse. ;z‘&as sort of &b a strange thing that he

taught medieval and @enlsgmce history here and wasﬂnarrled to a /
NG 155anCh

nurse.) #n@ I went on to become a medieval and i e scholar

and also married a nurse. Not that I went around looking for a

girl that was a RN diploma on purpose, but it sort of worked out
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H: . Thi qanklnterv1ew with Dr. Leslie Domonkos ;Lr the

Youngstown State Un1vers;ty Historians/Project by Donala Hovey
at the con erence rOOm of the Arts and| Science Office Bulldlng.

Today is Ma g//1975}and is approximately 2:10 p.m. flvf N

O & o

Las# //n<¢
H: W&BR—Jast—time you were telling about completing three

years or compl;tlng your-;achelor s Degree at Youngstown in
the course of almost three years. I wondered if you can go on
to tell us something about your graduate education? |
D: Well, ~the—tast—~year-of-my undergraduate, during the
last year of my undergraduate studies, a number of people on
the faculty here became very concerned about what kind of
financial aid I could be given in a graduate school) e
eébecially Vern Bﬁ%;é;y?whoag described in my last interview,
was pushing @in my behalf so that I could possible go to the

alvma mater
University of Chicago, his gold aimater. He handled letters of

recommendation with several other members of the faculty with
whom I had established close contact. I put in an agiication
to Chicago, tooﬁiaéonsin, to the University of North Carolina,
to Notre Damequitt, andxgs it turned out, I was accepted at

all of these places. However, financial assistance came only

from two places, One was Wisconsin)but it was only a very

{a‘@ll sum. Jmd Notre Dame,gwwbeh was the most generousD/S/O

although I really had desired to go to the University of Chicags,

I ended up going to Notre Dame which was not my first choice.

_.I entered-the history program in the Fall of 19593 e

-
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H: You mentioned last=ft#me that you were interested in
ﬁzdieval and Renaissance period, at this time did you... s
D: My intention at that point was to actually work in
early modern Reformation, post-Reformation era. One of the
reasons for my interest in the Reformation @was the presence
of a very outi}anding Reformation scholar at Norte Dame by the
name of Phillig)Huges. He taught about the history of the
English Reformation. I started out in the ﬁ%ll of 1959 as a
history studenqsa‘ﬂﬁl épring the course of the fall semester,
I made the closer acquaint:hce of the man that I had already
met before just informally and who was very kind and apparently
instrumental in me getting the scholarship at Notre Dame. His
name was Dr. Gabriel. He is a fellow Hungarian, and is very
highly regarded and was already then very high@}y regarded in
the field of history of the universities. Amnd Ee was and is

o cond i}
throughvthis year the director of K Medieval Institute of Notre

A

Dame. During some conversations that Dr. Gabriel and I had,
he brought to my attention the immense amount of Hungarian material
that he had assembled at the Medieval Institute. ZA=a E@ said that
it would really be to m? édvantage if I wrote somethiﬁ;_in the
field of Hungarian history for my emtemimg thesis. So with

collabp rotie n
the gg%aberation of the history department, because the Medieval
Institute is an autonom;fxs part of the graduate schoolx —,Z’t was
under no department, but sharing faculty with khaxhssssexx a
number of departments like theology,4£;glish,hhistory:"W1th

the cooperation of the history department, they arranged so that

—
=

I could write my MA thesis under Dr. Gabriel. #&nd the subject
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the I chose was the impact of foreign scholars fSeem Hungary

during the age of the Renaissance. This then really is the origin

of a very long and very close,almost paternal friendship that

ties me to Dr. GabrielJ,A’friendship that to a largggalso shaped

my scholarly interests in my subsequent career. Under the

leadership of Gabriel, I began my research in medieval Hungarian

history, Renaissance history. I wrote the thesis for ghim. —Aayet>

Qgcause I was able to arrange my schedule in such a fashion that

-
4took an overJload of courses and also wrote my thesis on an

Overload basisj I was able to get my MA in one year. So I
started in September @and finished in August. But—even—at-
that—time-..

H: You completed the thesis at that time too?

D: Yes, I took twelve hours fall quarter, six hours the
Spring quarter, plus six hours of research, and took twelve
hours in the summer. fblf*ﬂ

H: Did you drive a truck 40 hours a week on your spare time?

Dt “Ne', < in facs/what is really remarkable #m to me, this was
the first time in my whole school career that I finally had time
to read again like I did when I was in high school7 Aot to have
~to run off to weigh vegetables at Loiblaws 3 ‘}6 cow?le an hour
each day,%\fb be right on campusy to be ®able to only take twelve

AR BN ha Aadiady %b?%g ?2
hours, At was almost like a vacation for me. I almost felt
embaggssed to pick up my checks each semeMster for my graduate
assistantship because I didn't really feel that, this was almost

like a lark.

: So you were serving as an assistant?

e = i il
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D: I was what wi=s& known as a university scholar. I
dot money and I was supposed to do some services for the Shistory
department. They ¥were very minimal services.

o
H: They didn't hold you to 20 hours a week. +
fweTg

D: No. As a matter of fact, if I worked @26 hours a
semester that was fine.

H: Was there a particular point of view that you brought
to this thesis that. ycu did on Hungary?

D: Yes, there was. Actually in the thesis I took a position

)
which,by the way) I no longer hold, but I did in my 'Pt’b(- €+UGUS

a
youth\),fﬁat the Renaissance movement in Hungary was not%imported <

—ﬂEQEE_Qi_é.I£§£§planted_g§ntle flower that came from Italy, but

that it had native roots. I actually no longer support that

position.

H: But you did in your thesis?

D: Right. I supported it apparently well enoughjfLatdng
all my readers accepted it. At least I had enough!)footnotes to
give the impression that I knew what I was talking about.

H: Did you have any doubts about the validity of it at
the time?

D: Yes, I did. I élways doubt the validity of almost all
My conclusions at all times. There are very few things that I
ho14 as gospel truth.(%g; after the completion of the first
semester, I was still uncertain whether I wanted to stay at
Notre Dame)lmét for any reason, but somehow or other I felt

that I would be more at home at a NJéLVEHR  jnstitution. Again,

.-this-is not meant to indicate that anybody bugged me to go to
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church, or to confession or anything like that. I don't

know, having been brought up basically from a secular surrounding,
I was just a little naus%;ted by the excessive rosaries swinging
and running off the communion rail that prevailed at Notre

Dame at the time. So I again applied for possible PhD work.

The place I applied was Pitt. I got a reply, in fact, it was

a positive reply. But in the meanwhile something else happened.

H: This was before you had gottenx your MA?

D: Yes, this was in the winter of 1959 and 1960. But in
the meanwhile, the friendship between Dr. Gabriel and myself
continued to grow. And what is even more important, Dr. Gabriel
decided that it would be a good idea if I transferred into
the medieval institute, got myself another A&ster's degree

=z

0o
in medieval studies _and a doctrfte under the

)

institute. What made this whole deal much more appealing

of the o

was a grant from the Grace Foundationg)'zﬁe people who run the
bananna boat”to South Americaw. They had a very nice lucrative
graduate assistAntship at the institute. ZAs& so i guess I was
seduced'by money, but also by an increasing gré;ter desire to
work in late medieval and Reniassance Hungarian historyg I then
transferred into the institute the following year. I spe;t the
next three years as a student.

H: Did they in fact have quite an impressive collection
of documents?

D: Yes, they have among other things, the most complete

collection of university records anywhere in the world. When

I was in my last year at Notre Dame/they began-the micrcfilming
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of the whole library of Milan, which since then has

been @icompleted. It is a much more extensive collection then
what the Jesuits have at the Vatican collection in St. Louis.
It is f#far more easily accessible toof%}go I then began being
a student at the institute. At the time that I enrolled, I was
Q,\&gg?q,rw . ' .
of the student body. The institute faculty consisted of
eight members and there were two students. So the amount of
personal attention that was devoted to my colleague and myself
was something that is most unusua%)even in high powered
universities, where it was almost this one-to-one relationship.
C}%iThe other colleague was a Franciscan. gﬁis obviously had

disadvantages. If you decided to #® go’CChicago to see a concert,
- Gl sl

to listen to a concert or something, it meant that % the

student body was absent. It was quite obvious and even the

dumbest professor would catch on.<n§ut I continued to work

7
and tooK courses which are rather besides my usual 4
coup!ges in medieval and social economic? I took courses in
a _?au,.fa.iv\‘}’{" -
old French , and min%Fure painting of the l4+h @éntury, C

the theology of Grace in the middie ages, stuff that I must say

is of limited use even today. There were/however/a large number

of courses that I had found extremely heﬂayul in my subsequent
research. Probably, and this sounds rather unusual, probably
the greatest advantage I received from my work at the institute

was in mattexg unrelated to the subject directly. At the time

—

I was a student, my, Dr. Gabriel was editing and writing

a monumental work which was later published in France by one of

ey I e X et i P - S R Lt S e S e i
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the largest publishing companiei,and he won all kinds of

% :
priges at the French Academy and what have you. am& I did the
proofs of this book. And-in-the—-process of-doing—the pProofs,

: -p‘ﬁ+¢g4%ﬂ\
amd the book dealt with the of Paris in the

> 3

x@nturyg Py doing the proofs, and by Gabriel insisting that I
- :

handle every one of the books that appeared in the footnotes,
Ifﬂﬂﬂéégg a fantastic bibliographic’ knowledge. I also learned
the tricks of editing and complying and what have you that
eventually came very handy when I edited my first book. _S&~

; Cf%%’iﬁ% } studied there for three years, and at the end of my
seconil year, I got my second frﬂastegr's degree. I v\@te a
new thesi%j a thesis)by the way)which became part of my dis-
ertation. It dealt with the origins of the university of

~7
L, Obuda » which is one of the first wuniversity foundations

i in Hungary. Now the work there that I did on this Agster's
thesis, on this university, I would have to say was so well
received eventually that I published this in the form of an
article in thé e that I edited for Dr. Gabriel. Subse-
Quently, when I went to Hungary, all of the important scholars
in the field of Re%ﬁésance and medieval history in Hungary had
g#heard about this particular study and knew me as the author
of this work. So here is a master's thesis_.that became fairly
well known. In fact it is {n some of the major Hungarian
bibliographies as the defindtive work in that field. Now the

fact that I did this work on university history already obviously

indicates the impact or influence that Dr. Gabriel was having on

e s e
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me since he is the specialist in the history of universities
in medieval times. Again, the work that I did in proofreadin%)
and editin?,and so forth,y acquainted We with not only sources
but methodology to be used in dealing with history of universities
and wha%lno@ ,ghat kind of #records one could expect to find}w .
what has survive%*?nd what hasn'tD topggraphical descriptions)
and what‘have~you)/}ﬁl of these things I basically learned
from Gabriel.

H: When you started working on the Obuda problem, was it
pretty well defined to you that MGabriel would give you a lot
of guid#ance? e

D: Gabriel gave me”considerable amount of guikxdance.
However, what is strange about the man is onte I had pretty well
assembled the thing, then he gave it a verylgﬂséﬂgﬁ.reading.
It was basically the kind of Erelationship where everysimy
Friday night before I went home, I would have an hour# conference
with him. We would discuss the progress on the thesis that I
had made. The reason why he only glanced at it ain a ngégfﬁ)
fashion, I presumgjuh-t was that he was pretty well familiar with
it by hand, and really didn't feel that he was terribly concerned
Where 1 put the commas and where I pindentédparagraphs and where
I didn't. Aﬁﬁiye left this basically to be handled by other
readers of the-Ehesis. Now to get my secondl%gster's degree, I
had to have not only a thesisqput also an oral examination. And
all oral examz both for MA and PhD,fre open to the public in the
0ld medieval tradition. In other words, it is almost like an

inquisitio§} /fhe victum sitting there, others who might seme-
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the same fate sitting around sweating along with him.

H: Is this held in an auéLtor1um°

D: The medieval institute had a main reading room. It
Was a little larger room than this,with books and bookshelv¥es
all around, and working #tables. They would have a special
arrangement when the exams were given, the position of the

tables and what hav#you, and rows of seats where peopl%could

come and sit ifK Obv1ouslzL§tudents by the g!yg¥7inﬁggg‘mganc

Fienct
while, the number of students inc ed. There was

eight of us by the second year or so. All subsequent victﬁms

z

who would face this kind of drilling all came there. Tﬁéy
sat around and hoped along with you that you would pass.

H: What was that like?

D: The exam I took, I must say was probably the least
successful of any of my oral exams. The oral exam for my MA in
history was no problem, I did very well. There were a number of
factors herq that I guess came together. I had just recovered
froij\tbﬁgqaznd was phisically not in the best of‘health.
Somehow or another in the questioning I misunderstood two of
the questions and did not give good enough answers. <EiFen
gabriel, who thought that I should be doing much better than
that;”‘After all, I was supposedly his prize #pupiﬁ;fhe began
ranting and raving which unnerved me even more. So the end
result was an acceptable MA performance, but certainly not what

could be called brilliant.

e

Was this over the thesis?

D: It was over the thesis as well as all sorts of materiel -

[ a7 o N © e
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covering any of the courses that I had had. So it wasvrather
general examination. That is general in the sense that it
covered a wide area. -Amd it was an hour and a half exam
with four people. So I managed to survive it. Then I took a
few more courses for my docﬁ}gfe. I had a grant from the Ford
FoundatidpQlg a pre- docarfte fellow. am@ in the meanwhlle)
Gabriel had began operation in the back%ound -Jh-}-u51ng his
influence, and that he has a great deal of, he wasl;ble to get
me a ﬁ&tff%é&%k?g go to study at the University of Vienna. So
in 1963 at commencement, I got my second ALster's degree. Shortly
before I had been informed that I received a full fellowship
to Vienna and would be leaving to study at the Universityx
in September of 1963.

H: Were you married at this time?

D: No. I was/however engaged or was getting engaged. ¥

/
hrad—knrowh, actually I had dated Eva off and on ever since I

Mo
got to Notre in 1960.

H: Was she at Notre Dame?

D: No, she was in Cleveland so it was a long distance
romance. Most of my money went #mfor calls. Very expensive
Correspondence was exchanged by the two of us. It is actually
through letters that we got to know each other. Now there was
obviously the problem, here 7@ould be going off to Vienna. At
the same time, we wanted to ®mget married. Eva was also graduating
iA{une of 1963. So we then decided on the following plan of

action. I wrote to Dave Behen and asked if I could teach as an

part- tlme instructor in the summer of 1963 before I went off to

e i
i S oy
ST T A i
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Viennayx to earn money to help defray expenses. Eva, who graduated
in 1963 went out immediately and got a job at Lakewood Hospital
in Cleveland with the idea that sh%would only work for six months
pand that she would quit before Christmas. ThiMilan was that

I would go off in September of 1963 to Vienna,”I would come back
at Christmas time. We had already made arrangements to be

married on the 4th of January of 1964 and that Eva would then

accompany me back to Vienna and she would join me for the second 2)

half of my stay. It would then be a combined honeymoon 0
and scholarship and what have you. Fortunately, everything
worked out pretty well as we had expected. Eva did 3ft the job,
I did get my first job teaching here at Youngstown,??e did get
engaged. We made all the formal preparations and on September
4, 1963,1 sailed off to Vienna with the hope of coming back at
Christmas time and getting married.

H: Is that what happened?

D: This is what almost happened. There was one very
unfortunate interlude that put a shadow over most of the event.
I gwas supposed to come home on December 18th. And on the
evening of December 8th, I got a telegram saying that my father
had died. So I immediately made arrangements to come home ko#zn,
days earlier. I got home just #®in the morning of the funeral.
We proceeded to carry out our plans of marriage for the simple
reason that there was no reason why not to get married even
though some of the circumstances had changed. Asd_fo on January

—~—

4th we dually tied the knot. Asi>tgen that same evening we flew

—

qﬁﬁE;Q,Europe and spent the rest of the year,inuvienna.

e
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H: What was the atmosphere like in Vienna?

D: I found the University of Vienna basically a disappoint-
ment. The main reason I guess was the expectation that here I
would be going to a very famous old universt@y. Gabriel,

EwoRe
before I had left for Eeiupe’

important people there}{‘Actually he knows all of the important

gave me instructions about the

people everywhere,-'So I was sure to say hello to this person
and that person who would be working with this man at the library,
this man at the archives. #&&d _he told me above all if you have to

®sg take courses at the university, describe yourself and take a

.y : 1
course from the famous man called _.ﬁL;&lhi‘ ——— . 7
. There
H: H¢ was still Jesasisne ?
s5, \A‘ T *kw
D: Ohvin fact ol is still mey. So I
e e
went and enrolled in_________ class. Even the meeting with .
1
Professor o sounds like something out of an operettgx

/With both of us approachifng the center of the room and shaking
hands and bowing deeply and all kinds of nonsi?nce. This is
where I first realized the immense prestige and importance of

a European university professor, who next to God or at least

the Trinity, is a close fourth. So I enrolled in Professor

class on the Gregorian reform of the church in the
e lavaeni~ 4'\1 A8 o F v
l&tgﬂcentury# A&Znd found that this seminar which it was gi&éh )

. . a

Wag the biggest waste of time that I have ever encountered. The
\od,

seminar consisted of nothing else,,, well)first of all, the first

v

shock was when the seminar contained over,j%)people. Remembering
back to my old Notre Dame days where Gabriel and I used to sit

around and drink wine and beer and discuss historic problems, this
g e TR e S bt i o N D O fy F . g
Tlote o -&An. e, . Cind po Moa coValo o fomedtas w,@ff.»._r

, < ,
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Z

, o
by membe€:§ of the class being read, and Victgenoff thanking

the readers for their papers, getting up #ex at the end of

hour and a half,
the =Xaxxx he bowed, we bowed, and he disappearded and we didn't
sﬁf’him for another week zndiERERlmdf at which time he again came,

he bowed, we bowed, three papers were readsum he bowed, we bowed,

?
H: Question is-Xmaugzix-—inaudible. o
/

D: Very little instruction ofwmmx any kind7 /Hérdly any. But

he disappeared, and this went on for a whole semester.

it was as I said, an extremely disappointing kind of thing.

So if I would be measuring my relations with F\c_,'h)(&nw&

as indicative of what went on during the year that I was in
S—
Vienna. However, fortunately, aswe and again through Dr.

i
Gabria%>Ix-lk became very good friends with the }échivist
of the University of Vienna. The University had a very fine

/Kichives where the records of the V%EOUE‘ nations of the

University » Vvarious faculties of the University are kept.
5Na here I did much of my research for my dissertation. I
Piftecnth- :

pored over all kinds of létb-cenﬂyﬁry records looking for
%ﬁhgardan students enrogdled at the university of Vienna who
might have been graduates of other Hungaréan wﬁiversities)
}fies that the University of Vienna had with other Hungarian
“Universities and shcools of higher education. sam.

¢ Were you werking on your digsdgﬁation?

D: Yes.

H: What was the main topic?

D; The topic was actually sort of a composite thingg Fhe Histooy

fixst of
of three Hungarian universities, the waxixEax which was

S
T, e e



of which-was Obeda and then two universities founded in the
; | Motirns P T
Renﬂgs‘ance period by a chap by the name of LJ..t.bgs(Corvénusy \ e

whd%%ge and activities I am still persuing in books.

-

et

ol
H: Straighten me out on the&gorvenu;>name now .

’ S

D: He is calleé\gp:ygnps/for the simple reason that the

#Mﬂjﬁr »~ A . i
coat of arms of the =Z—— family, which Bhe is a membex@;crow

[

is one of the heraldic symbols Xnd crow in latin is Corv4nus. 4

Matthiag uujadt.? e

H: But he is also known as e

D: Right, that is his real name. He was named Corvenus

4
mainly by the Italian humanist who through very strange geneslogy

traced back his ancestory to the Corveniisin the early republic

in Rome. It takes some doing to trace somebody back to the

Corvenii.

H: What do the Hungarians call him? 12

D or Corvenus. @
H: Both?
D: Yes.

H: fThis was sort of a continuation of your &Lster's?

D: Yes, this was a continuation of my Master's thesis{anoL
an elaboration of two other Quniversities’so most of my work‘*kbﬂb
was in finding in the records of the University of Vienna,
indications of the existence of these institutions. Y&d thually,

: ~
I also worked in the library at the university trying to findsmsg
secondary orTiﬁ“*ﬁb primary sources for it.

H: Was there a thesis involved in this thesis?

D: No, it was basically a descript%gye thing, it was not...

the only thesis really is again a basic disagreement with most
S
~
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ars)

periods who maintain that one of the foundations made by this

OoF T%E Hungarian historians of ’ and actually of pervious

~———L Corvenus in Buda developed into a full scale university.

: 2
This was sort of a dominican studium %g PR T

was planning to make into a truly first-class institution of

high learning but it never really got off the ground. While
Most of the other qﬁngarian scholars get carried away and

they think that this & is a marvelous institution m£ and a gifeat
university and so forth. I had the audacity to point out that

2o
this is nothing more than a domlnlca? EiEEQLBm which is not

S N\

really a university. So although as I said it is basically

descriptive, it is to some degree conten*ious.

o +hs s{“o(na\,

D: Yes. Now during the year g that we were there in the

H: Did you get into Hungary at all? (

spring when Eva had already joined me, this was_t?e first time
e

then that I was able to go back to Hungary, 3 years after we

(4 -
had left. It was a very emotional kind of pilgramage back to —

Hungary. There were obviously wess amany relatives who I had hﬁﬂ—
Sunts
seen wirenr I was a young child of six or five) ‘}(grandmother
that I had not seen in almost twenty years, An fact, over
\catoual J
twenty years age, she lived in a different part of Hungary
N3 we have not seen her for quite a while. XSo it was an
interesting reuniong furthermore)to go back to a country that
§ > ol
is number one, behind the ron/zﬁrtain)and number two, lawve
suffered so very heavily just eight w=ss years perviously

during the 1956 revolutionf‘ éﬁé@scars of this were still very

evident. The shock of seeing¥poverty-sticken, unpainted, unkept
e, =S
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.égégas that was supposeé;ly one of the most beautiful towns in fij
[}
Europe/(‘ j:t was ‘rather sh:cking. DPsRrIENCK
H: This was @ in Budapest?
D: Yes.
H: Were you there on the basis of doing scholarly work
too?
D: Yes. XWe went there twice; /dﬁce strictly as tourists
and another time we went there for the longer periogjand I was
38ple to make my xfirst serious contact among Hungarian scholars.
You see, in the course of writing my diaFrtation, my thesis, I -

had to become acquainted with 5 ot of Hungarian scholars by name,
strictly from the bibliography. I was very eager to meet these
people in the fleshjand I was able to meet & some of them.
Subsequently, I have met practically everybody that I could have.
But it was during this first episode that I met a fai@E& large

number of people at the librariesvand individuals. ¢

H: Were these pre-arranged meetings?
D:  Some yes, others no. I had carried down some correspondence
with two ﬁhngarian scholars\ Agd naturally when I went to Hungary
I went to visit them. Others)I just showed up at the library
and told them who I was and what I was$ doinq)and I must say that
I was received very kindly. Apparentlylany Hungarian feels-that
@ny Hungarian who lives outside the country and is even remotely
£
interested in them must be a gbad guy. So this was always to

my advantage. The fact that I had left the country when I was

a very small child and that I spoke Hungarian fluently and that

P =2

I
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I was interested in the culture of my native land 9 I guess
‘f impressed them very much. ¥ I must say that I found no diffi-
R _ =2l QCCEST .
culty whatesqeever in gaining 2ees&s to any of these things.
H: Were you able to get into the university archives?
D: 1 didn't go to the university garchives mbecause the
university archives didn't really have any material that I was

ke

looking at. I dithowever maak some very good contacts with

)
the national archieves. Ijiéfact, made arrangements to have some
things micro-filmed. Subsequently, these were then sent out to
o rais bl anh(’ﬁ

the states, thrsagh diplomatic chanells arrived £6 the Hungarian
Bﬁbassy in Washington. &e they wanted to make sure that I was
k H —

(4 LIRAY
not %grrétdsaway some kind of state secrets.

H: But there was no governmental interference?

D: None whatSso:éver. Further more, on a very(éggg;;;;g:D o

.
trip, I was able to purchase an fmense number of books *came

loaded back to Vienna with so many books that the taxi driver

couldn't 1lift the o sﬁyipase it was so heavy. So this/then,

Yas really the first installment of a sizeable Hungarian library

that I eventaully was able to
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Phis is .an interview xwith Dr. Leslie Domonkos for the

HOVEY:
Youngstown State University Historians Project by Donald Hovey

at Professor Domonkos' office on June 3, 1975/at 2:10.

i Z/ V- y

H: Last time just as the train appeared to be headed off
the burning bridge, you were in Vienna and you had told me abaut Scw
JL your trips to Hungary. I wondered if we could bring you today
from Vienna kback to the United States and more or less up .
to 1975, e WS f%-fl_-.+b~l?o+h:} vy haart uwdm,v:S
D: This then ties into how I got to Youngstown really.

When I was in Vienna in 1963, I knew then that in the fall of

1964 that I mwauld need a job. I had hoped that during the

Wkaa
Christmas b(agk when I was-geing- to get Pmarried anyway, that
. - ; . . -+»w&-upw\
I could go the American Historical meeting which . baek=then was

)

held in Philadelphia)anq to look for a job. In fact, this is
what I did. I interviewed with three schools. A placeswbax
Called It*&cat College in New York, the University of Vermont,
and Lehigh University. TH%y were all looking for medieval.
history professors. The interview with Ithica College after @
the initial contact was absolutely no.________. on their part, &
So I don't know if they ever filled th%Fosition or not.
Lehigh*_went as far as askingcthe University of Notre Dame
library for copies of my two gLster's thesis and apparently
contacted some individuals. ;inally)they were decent encugh

to write and tell me that they had hired somebody with a PhD,

in hand. The University of Vermont is actually the school that
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CKVSED ME considerable difficulty. The University of Vermont
made every indication that they were seriously considering me.
After I had returned to Vienna, they were ImeowreSpondence.,

in contac;’yith me through correspondence. They offered me a
contract with number of hours, with salary, every thing quoted.
I wrote back accepting the contract. This was xr some time in
Februéry,I think. And I operated under the assumption that I
(tggg&be employed at the University of Vermont. Time passed,

in the mean while we had been back to Hungary,Aeverytime we had
got back to Vienna from any trip the first thinTg we did was

run to the maié:Lox looking for a letter from Vermont; nothing
happened. Finally in May, exasperated,I wrote a letter to them
asking what the situation is, why I haveﬁt heard from them.
Where upon I received on a paper slip resembling a torn off
lunch bag, written in pencil,the following note, "Dear Mr.
Domonkos, I think there is some misunderstanding, we hired a
man in the field that we had offered to you. We do, however,
wish you good luck in finding a job." This was my first contact
with the ai?ademic world and its functioning. At this point, as
you can imagine/tiit.I was desperate. Further more, it wasrva
week or so before that my wife announced that she tgj;;;f;: a;étnw
going to have a baby. FortunatelyJwe didn't know that it was
going to be two. At that point, I would have probably have a&
taken a gun and committed xm suicide in good central European
fashion . So in desperation, I wrote to some old friends at

3\1‘00 '
Notre Dame, Vern Bu%}eéz who in the mean &3#we-had gotten a job -
N _—__-'—“
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in California. BAnd I wrote to Dave Behen, my 0ld ———— K zé
-whe—wers- at Youngstown el who was department chairman. Very
shortly thereafter, even before I had heard anything from any
other source, I got a telegram stating, "We will match Vermont's
salary, will you join our faculty? Dave Behenr Being as poor

as I was, I responded in a one word telegram, "Yes." A& this
is how I then signed a contract, actually #long distance with
Youngstownf%ﬁi came back in July and I started in the summer
School because again we were absolutely brok%jaad the only

posessions that Eva and I had werévedding gift?} /Aflot of

nice silver and crystal, but hardly the kind of things with

o WlRE L,
J&fch you can start a house hold. So I started working, in s
fact, we arrived on #the 13th of July at /4 o'clock in the

tghF
afternoon and at ﬁjo'clock the 14th, the next morning, I was

in Tod Hall lecturing on the Egyptians.%%&his is how I came to
Youngstown,.ézzﬁéﬁl expecting to stay no longer than a year.
Dave Behen didn't think that I would stay longer, and here it
is 1975, and I am still here. Why did I stay? Well, there
dre a numer of reasons. First, the reasons were primarily
economic3 I could not afford to moveE) The December of the

first year that I took the job kat Youngstown, we had the

eleven
twins. This was ¥ years ago, and at that time)by the way I
Was making® 5,800 . At #hat¥time¥the garbage collecting
M€

crew iqmg?ungstown'city as out for a minimum wage of $7,000.

I immediately realized that I was in the wrong profession. In
d-oyper <
1964 it ended on basically a;gggﬁﬂgnote. The following year,

1965, I still felt that until I had my diégrtation done and a

2 = e
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degree in hand, there was not much sense in moving.

H: Y¢h were still working on your disgrtation?

D: Yes, I was still working on my dig%rtation. Insfact,
it was a rather, well not rather, it was an extremely difficult
period in my life for the simple reason that I was teaching
£FQWQN
A5 hours) ,ﬁﬁviously with two little ones at home I had to give
my wife some support and aié)and I was trying to finish my
di%?rtation. On January 8, 1966)1 got a letter from my friend
Dr. Gabriel at Notre Dame with the following message, "I am
leaving for Eugbe, March 1‘?” If you want your degree this year,
have your di%értation in in six weeks. At that point I had not
written one page. I had done research, but not very extensiv%/

/

since I had otten back from Vienna. I did howeve;,have
%“;t that poignt I decided that I was going to geéet

— NOtes.

my degree. There was no if$, and's, or but's about it, I was
/

going to do it. There were two things that initally interfered. ‘=

We were still on the semiiiii syste%: with fifteen.hours all

the test papers to-gxade V yuuS:an imagine that. Number twog ~

this is.almost customary with me;"I get my usual winter pheumonia

and was%;¥etty bad shape. I shipped my wife off to Cleveland

because I felt that I would be able td%%etter fending for myself.
sy v Noin e e . ., omd

I drank imumberable jars of orange juice, medicated myself sish

frequent%visitiPtn the doctor and began writing my diéértation.

I finished writing the di%értation in roughly three weeks. This

was Raccomplished only by sleeping four or five hours a night,

coming home from school, taking a short napland starting on

the dis%rtation, working sometimes til;_;h;gg_g; four o'clock
A

-
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/fﬁ the morning, taking a brief snooze till about eight,and

then going off to teach)and getting home about three or four
o'clock in the afternoon. This went on/as I said,roughly for
three weeks. At the end of which time, on the last allowable
dale was writing the conclusion and had a girl type it. My
wife was typing the appendices. My student secretary was typing
the bibliography and my sister was pasting in Bthe illustrations.

H: How did you manage to get that many typewriters?

D: At that point it didn't make any difference, because
allx I had to do was get it to the readers by>I think)this was
February 15.

H: And then they were going to have you retype the final
Version?

D: The final version, I already had a dear lady in South
Bend, all picked out. Ehet as soon as my readers would read it,
she would &::'them up and type it,i?end it to me for correction.
-D)L March 44,LI was supposed to take my defensive di/s\grtation
and I was supposed to put on the table a final corrected perfect
copy for the dean of the graduate school. Sure enough}on March
3,’inulEva and I went up to Notre Damei?é%é copies were there.

I spent the evening correcting and putting on crazy Hungarian
accent marks and what héye you@l.end on the afternoon of March
4th, in a public defersive dis,\érﬁation, because the medieval
institute advertisized the fact that somebody was taking the
defense, I defended this diiértatﬁon and passed¥with fine

praise from the inquisitors.

H: Tremendous.
,_—&% ’—\\“——_

-
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D: So I think in the of disertations, this was probably

one of the most tu.i. C-.‘PH"’“' written di/s‘grtation ever created.
H: You had been here then a couple of years?
D: One year and a half. So I think among the days of
my life which I recall as memorable, March 4th, ranks pretty
high because after théyears of waiting and this last intense
push, it was a great feeling to have it done. I might also
say that it was also sort of the eleventh hour because the next
day, March 5thlGabrie1 left for Europe and didn't come back for
a half a year. So if I #wouldn't have done it then, that would
have been it for at least another year.
H: What do you think would have happened if Gabriel

haden't written that letter?

o

If he hadn't written that letter of January 8th, I still
might not have it. I am the kind of person who works well under

pressure. In fact I must have pressure and then I sweat and

)

moan and bitch and produce. In writing the disértation, T

N

must #ksay the reason why it was possible for me to write in
really three weeks was the fact that I had superb notes, I had

the whole thing organized. In fact, _something that I rarely

A
admi&fut S5 8L true% The day before I sat down to writez and
by the way writing the first paragraph is the hardest god damned

B

thing under the sun,” “fhe day before I sat down to write I made
an extremely detailed outline and predicted the length of the
dis/;‘grtation within two pages of the actual one. $ I knew

exactly what I had, where I was goipng, so there was very little

; ; x 3
deviation from this norm once I @@t myself down to produce the

— — —




®

74
‘HOVEY
thing. I had my notes organized so perfectly that I ka®XX took
them out of the folder and hung them with paper clips and what
have you, all over my room and I would then just go around and
check the notes and walk up and down; we had a long corridor.
I would sit down and write a paragraph and look at the notes
again and write. I would create the footnotes and within hours
my student secretary came, who by the way was one of my prize
students, she now has a ster's in history herself. She is a
librarian in Wooster,MassachluZeé%. She #is a very sharp girl.

Massachovse

She would come in tbe morning by the house, pick up the notes at
eight o'clock that’I had written during the night and by noon
she would have a rough copy of things that I would correct
and then she would retype them. It went on like this for three
weeks. szﬁﬂckus

H: ’ Do you do other things like this?

D: Unfortunately, yes. I say unfortunately because I
always hate myself afterwards for having left things hang until
the last minute. But most of the articles that I héve written
and so forth are always done in this fashion. There is always

~
some god damn dea%\ilne that I am meefing and it is always the —

cthJSM
eleventh hour. Then I naturally get creitisium from my wife
who says "yhy have you been sitting around all of this time
-
when you should have been working." So to contipue the story,
erthes

ﬁn Jﬂne of 1966 then I got the degree. It was a=weer that spring,
or the following fall that I made my first attempt to move out

of Youngstown to a better place) HXnd this was to Case Western

—
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Reserve. Case Western Reserve had an opening in medieval history.
I applied, I was interviewed,Afrom what I was able to gather later,
there was some support in my behalf. Eventuallxlhowever, they

%
hired a man at an associate level withnbook and what have

eV

A —

+he s
you. Actually tqp changed the gjob desch.a»tlon and I no longer
fitted what they were looking for. So that was my first attempt.
It was not the kind of attempt where you decide to put all of
your eggs in one basket and then if you don't get it this is
some kind of horrible disaster to you. I applied and I s&hoped
that it would work, it didn't. Looking back and knowing what
has happened to Case Western R#serve in their history department,
I am very happy that I never got the job.

H:M\Really?

D: Yes, I have a friend there who is a young associate
professor makiné*lz,ooo.

H: Living in Cleveland?

D: Yes, living in Cleveland. The University has practically
put all of their money into their medical school.‘ Their liberal
arts college has greatly suffered. They have discontinued giving
European PhD's, in fact\they are phasing out their PhD program
all together. So if I still had the job I would bevfiﬁggncially
far less favorable circumstancesjand let'ﬁ/face it, prestige
alone certainly will not get you anywhere.),Néxt year, the

: IYsud Fe
Universtiy turned from a private to a state institution. By &

the way, in the meanwhile I also got an offer from Ball State. -

H: _That-is in Indianfa? e
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D: Yes, in Indianma. I was tempted to go out there. In
fact, I was invited to go out to see the place. But then I
ﬁdecided that that would be too much of a lateral move anyway)
and I came to the conclusion thatlifx I am going to move I

@m going to move up. So I never carried that move out. .,8®

with the new institution as a state related school, I was hoping,

-
e

and most of my hopes actually materialized)that the place would
improve in its academic standing and facutty and so forth;'iﬁt
that point)alreiSZkI was thinking ahead ﬂ%is was already my
gfourth year}r-fhat if I stayed around for two morelthen I would

< 35933‘1 ¢ Bl
be ellgpple for a E&MQE&S&{E) n the fifth year, I applied for a

e ar
full x3 ?&Bé"to Vienna to do reasearch in
¥ »L/z)"'(lt,l\ ]
Hungarian history. The major cutbacks in the program

eliminated that #&whole category of research scholars}so I was
screwed out of that. Then looking around for other sources of
inZcome, I heard about this new grant that was offered by the

» » E L ~”
American Councg¢l of Learned SSBcieties and Saaéj Sbwﬂbeﬂ gﬁéearch

Counsil under a general heading of International Research and
Exchanges Board or IREX, which I will be referring to several times
in the next few minutes. I applied to this IREX , it has its
headquarters in New YQrk. This outfit then runs am exchange
programs with Eastern Europe and the Soviet Union. A friend of
mine and his wife were on an IREX in Budapest. They gave us some
information as to what it is like. We decided then, with=Eva
“eovld November.
that we will apply which I did in Deeembsr of 1969. After an

initial positive greply I was called to New York for a personal
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INTERVVEW/ IX February of 1970 we got a special delivery letter

)
that we had been accepted to go to Hungary and that we would be
able to leave in September of that year. I went to see President

:
5abb s/
Pugdey about a %%#giieai. And since the university at that

ap ° .
§time still had a s%patical program and I had a fairly good B
e
relation with Pqueylit was agreed® that there was no unforsean -~

40 old a bbat
difficultyy I ;iil get my zeuatieéfpwhich meant #hat half salary
¥ )

from herg’plus the money from the IREX people, plus money from
the gﬁhgarians in Hungary)and this would then allow us to go.
To supplement all this and to be able to buy a car, Eva went to
work at St. Elizabeth's in the delivery room. We managed to
save enough money to buy a little red Volkswagonlwhich we ordered
before we left for Europe and picked it up in Vienna.
b'd H: So you actually went then?

D: Yes, the preparations that we had to make obviously

peW a5

took considerable timeg ,FEquing somebody to live in out‘hous%éD
we had ouQ_collg%ue Saul Friedman live in the house for a yaﬁ

vyear. In September of 1970, W@ got on the plane in the most
comfortable fashion, flew off to Vienna where out little car
was waiting for usb /ﬂhd the following day, we ®€drove to

Budapest.

H: Very goodk&hen how long was that stay?
D: The stay &was from actually the 2nd of September11970)
to July 1, 1971,eleven months.

H: A whole year then?

D: Yes, a whole academic yearff. ——
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H: What did you do there?

D: I was assigned to the Historical Institute of the
Hungarian Academy of Sciences. Most of my time was spent in
research on the subjed:YLf the Réﬁaisﬁance in Hungary. As
I already indicated in the previous interview, I had contact
with Hungarian scholars. &Now I was able to meet all those
that I didn't meet initially. The fact that I was a guest of
the Hungarian 3cademy)immediately opened ;:gsbdoor totceverybody s
office that I wantéd to go to. So I spent much of my time wzth
the Hungarian National Archives, the %;brary of the Hungarian
Academy,??i}the Hungarian National L}brary. And alsq:ivcénsiderable
fmount of time in just talking to ssems collegues in the same
field /Wﬁlch was really a wonderful novel experience because b
in Youngstown or even if I was in Chicag%%\z.mean how many other
people are involved in Hungarian Lgthleéntury.ﬂﬁstory? So
here were people who were in cultural history, art history,and
so forth. Fortunate1¥)they had already azheard of me théﬁgh some
of my reprints that I had sent to various friends,éo I was not
a completely unknown factor. Some very well known scholars)
members 6f the academy, wrotZe tgbe and called me while I was there
asking me to come and visit them and %e in contact with them.
Again, another great advantage that I had and I must say, I am
not saying that all these people opened their door only because

my name was_ggg_Domonkos, but many of these people ;ﬁ:fgiassmaues
of Gabrle%% When ‘he was a student in Budapeirback in the 1930's.

Now these guys were in responsible senior level positions & the

Hungarian Academy, the L?%raries, and so Torthe—Sowhen—they heard
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that one of their former classmate's students %ﬁpiereifhere was
immediately a rapport which probably would not have been developed,
or would have developed in:far longer time that it actually did
develop.

H: You were working on &wmem the 1450 & 1500 period?

D: Yes, that is right 1450~&01500 period.

H: 494 is this the same period that your work on iF=studsipg
the universit?ies' whs M‘?.

D: Well, two of the three universities on which I wrote
my diéertationar;all into this time period. furthermoré/the work
that } did on my first &Ester's degree in Histo;y also falls

into this period, that was o in foreign

scholars in Hungary during this very age. So let me put i%fhis
way, I went there with really a full bibliographical knowledge
of the period. I also knew who the individuals are who were
involved in the study of this age. So it was...

Wehe

H: And these people awe there?

D: These people were there2.

H: Who were some of these people that I would know if I
were a Hungarian medievalist?

D: Probably the most important man who is a very ardent
marxist and wrote a very interesting Renaissance in Hungary
seen with Marxist eyes is a professor by the name of Kardos.
Dear Professor Kardos died last year. Actually he is a very

Pk ke hond ww Fhis boovie
strange man, he felt very ashamed'with Bis full of Stalin
W Ac b
quotations and Lenin quotations and Marx quotations. But

+£% maintains that
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this is the only way that he could have it published.

:>

H: QUESTION-GANTBE-HEARD. WA FAia = WL’&"““ :
s

D: YES, now the book that he made his great name in - = o

actually, he was a very well known scholar already in the 1930's.
// .

Then he had problems because he was Jewish. But because he had
some good friends, Christian friends, he was saved from being

deported. Then when the new regime came, he steppe forward
‘aSCisTt
as a great marf?r of the old regime, a great anti-fasist and

)
rose to become director of the Hungarian Academy in Rome. Then

he came home and was made a member of the Hungarian Academy of

Sciences. Aad’gg became the great Marxist historian of the
/

post-world war era.

H: This was all ?

ngﬂﬁovey, I really don't know. He claims that he had to
surviv;. Sad 1 guess, you know, when you are faced with that
problem, I don't know what you and I would do. We have children,
he had children, you have to feed them

)

you prostitute yourself or do you starve?

80 what do you do, do

H:Then you discovered that there was another point of view
that has merit2 that was afraid to be recognized?
D: qu@'ﬂell)that.js what many have done. It is interesgking
e N~

and somebody, not Kardos, but a friend of his pointed out that
————— -

——

you could take his book, take a red pencil and pencil out paragraphs
that deal with Marxist ideology. Zmml if you take these out and
Qyou read the remaining section, they make a perfectly logical

sequence. In otker words, what he really did is he probably
oy
took the damn thing and said? well this fariﬁown the page it &s

)
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high time i=e® that we insert somehabout what Lenin said. Yigd
_ghen he found somefZthing that even vaguely could have been
interpreted or tie&inpkhe wrote then a brief paragraph stating
Lenin's view on this pfoblem then continued exactly where he
had left off in the previous paragraph and went on. By clipping
out-zgé;e Marxist garbage he then still has a perfectly weél
written book left.

H: Do you have a feeling that other people were having

problems in how to live with e, %

D: Yes, I have found that a number of them have had problems.

L 1.4
I have another verx)very dear friendy, in fact)I consider®” Professor
~

Kardos a very dear friend}although he is accused by many as
being a careerist and a phoney. I still felt that there was

a great deal of merit in his work mand that he was basically

a very decent and fine human being. Another chap, %much younger
manXFe was brilliant with a far more —_ ____ mind that Kardos'
mind3 Jklso he is a Marxist, ¥am is a very dear friend of miné.

He toc has problems qﬁﬁut his past. He wrote again, a superb

v]

disertation which was then published as a book, the best book
A

on the subject. On a Hungarian military leader of the early
S i Zriny ~

4#¢#h Lentury by the name of ri ! , and it is a Marxist

. = aF s

book. Fr—fFrurr o+, it was published in 1953 or 195t9 full
N %

of glorification of Stalin and quotations by various party
officials and what have you. They were woven in in such a
fashion that it makes absolutely no sense. Here again, in order
to have the thing published he had to do itga}It is strange how

-—people Teact to things now. He has a revised new addition of
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6&1 are
TE? SAME BOOK OUT, /Bﬁt all of these passages 3 missing. So

the second edition published in 1968 or 1970 doesn't have any
of this. It is a considerably shoEFter book all of a sudden
and it xdoesn't have this. So to give you some idea of how
these people feel about it. I was at a dinner at his house,

Fhoue, kf-
just the two of us and I said, "I bwewghtyou this

book. And he looked at me sort of ksheepishly and he said,
"Did you b‘-’}i th:big red‘or the new one?" The‘big red /
actually in this case had a dﬁ:ble mea7ing. It was in a big
red cover, but it was also the big red book. So looking back,
I am quite sure that he is not at all happy with thé\big red.
But again, here is a man who felt that he had to do it because
this was the only way. So I must say, my mexperience in Hungary,
led me to contemplate many things)among them naturally there
are some hkvery brillian%men who have Marxist bias. Obviously,
whatever I will ever write in the future will always take

the Marx interpretation into account. I will certainly not
write Pre-World War ‘}éﬁm history as the Mérxist have
done a great d%%articularly in social histor}y and looked
upon historical problems even in my area, with completely new
views.EX¥ Studies done on such things as social mobility, who
were Kaghe students who W& went to the university, what was
their socﬁ;& ackgroud was and so forth\ K11l of these things I

will adopt¥the research made by the Marxist.

H: So in the =case of these people, their Magismx is

)

distinct from the EX¥XXXX Stalinist, in other words,k it wasn't

% )

completely authentic.’:7 Were they sinceréMarxist?

- —
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D: Don, I don't know who the sincere Marxist is. I
know who the insincere oneyare, but I dont know who really
believes. In fact, of all the historians that I met, there
is only one woman who I think is a sincere Marxist, the others
I have serious doubts. Either by just general conversation
With them or through what others have said about them that they
are sincere Marxists. But#H@QQ/T. i ig B ve ,

H: XCan you work in Hungary as a historZian w=mif you&
not asMaweies? Julke The )AFAILUYF aﬂPfkonclJE?

D: I guess you can. You can write straight wforward

descriptive history. You can write even on things such as

.t//r
the great peasant rebellion of the early-léééﬁeknturv One

of my friends}who is not a Marxist)finished a book on the subject,

in fact/it was his second book and Ehe is not a Marxist and it

‘;as published. Basicallijhat I have found is that unless you
are anti-Marxist you are pretty safe. That is intolerable to be
anti-Marxist. To be Marxist is preferred, not kto be anything is
acceptable.
&h&ﬁ(bd?{?iDM\pan% gid you run into any people of the
church while you xwere over giere?
D: I ran into some interesting people who were churchmen.
—Soths, I ha;f?::gthy conversations with people who wxz@were parish

priests. I had the opportunity to talk to a man who is in charge

N
of the treasures, ecclesiastical treasures of the,A%ch‘ﬂioékes&

o

of . In fact, he took me 1

chairf2

()

Pral
to the palace of the arc%h?ishopSand I sat in the

»and sat down on his bed while he was still at the embassy in

]
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Budapest. .

H: Dis yov kiss his ring'

P l\}b/, nin factlwhat emerged basically in my conversation
with these men, kthey %Fe somewhat upset with the United States 2

for harboring — at the legation. tHedelmetyVod O

@ithese were not what are called 'peage priests'. In other
<

words, probably they are agents of the secret police who parade

around the streets. But these men that I met were Egenuine
noem alination s
Catholic priests. They believed that the hmemaumtinsof the

relations between the Vatican and the Hungarian Government
Kesents
was in many ways hindered by the Bzzeiﬂeat ot NN, .,2

So unlike many in the grace around here who think that ;
is probably God;s greatest gift to mankind\ I personally am not
very fond of him. #A=4 althougﬁ)when he was in ;own I went to
see him and all thatbei I don't think of him as a great hero.
That is, I kthink of him as a man who out lived his past, or

out lived his usefulZness many years ago, and he lived to be

u\ .
too old. Agg'hekﬁied, let's say maybe, and he had been shot 2%
N

by the Russians in 1956\) I think he would have gone down at a

) )
tremendous rallying point) $om%\}hing like Joan of Aﬁc. One

of the good things about Joan is that Wskthey burned her. Had

she been around a little longer, probably things wouldn't have =

been so rosy. St. Francis of Assi_if he had lived five or sixx o
—

years longer would have probaby been accused of her&fiy and killed.

So unfortunately didn't have the fo§%ight of dying
sooner so to some degree he did stand

H: Did you come away from your year _in.Hungary changed at
all do you think?
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D: Yes, I definately sthink so. I hav%always been
basically liberal, I always had basically liberal inclinatioms.
However, until 1956,1 was a sté%ch anti-communist as would be
Very much expected or understandable. I am by no means a pro-
communist at this point, HGwever)taking finto<®ise account the

L oolinin
reality of the situation in”Europe, my view at this point is
that anti-communism as a policy by the gp%¢~isn't going to do

a god damn bit of good. The Russians are going to stay in

&

J
best hope for the people there is to quitely try to deal with

Hungary for #probably many more years Jherefore, I think the
the west as much as #$possible in the form of business, commercial
contacts and what have youy /gécause/from this buisness contract
trade and so forth, some advantage wm® will trickle down even to

the people of the lower

So unlike most of #hs my
compatriots living in America who think that any <wpe of cooperation

with the Hungarian Regime and __ in Hungary today is

basically treasonous and what haviuiou: I don't think it is at

all. I think the more cooperationrthose in the west and those
z >
. <

that have remained at the better.... . %ans

o
H: You think that that is the only way out: Russia is there
to stay in Eastern Europe.
D: It is a reality. I am quite sure Q}ot of historians
will not agree with this. I think that if we were going to
do what Eis%ﬁhower so often sai%’roll back the iron curtain

and all that, 1956 was the time to do it. We muffed that, and

I must say that I felt very bitter that we muffed it. By re-
Wy ld

~assuring the Russians that we will do nothinig, we invited them
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/'fﬂ CRUSH THE Hungarian revolt.
H: Then you think that the United States could have inter-

vj;ne d?

D: Oh)I definately think so.

That The vasfam woole nef-have

D: Well, the Russians were pulling out of Hungary during

the initial phase of the Hungarian rebellion. Only when they
received reassurances to the/‘)Jgostav:Lan Embasyﬁ-'?’.rtsldent Bis-
enhower that we h-,aﬁg no intention of doing anythln@\dld they
turn around and come back >mrd=tTmesbeck in force. $o any
Eastern European who has any illusions that the United States

stands for democracy and freedom and so fox{gbf.-w should

immediately be shot or put into an insane asgylum. I don't

. rhetor/c,
know if we will do anything ever. It 12 basically retorect >
g@ e o
H: A couple of years after =this O
N
—— \—‘\ o PR §
exper1ence'7 B -

D: Yes. I must say that most of the people that I talked
to )and-m}most of my contacts.)were with historians, many of
them my own age. It was a very frightening thing to them because
they realized that any kind of loosening, any kind of liberalism )
can be wiped out really over night by the Russians if they so :
desire. -And-again....

H: That is right, just look and see what the Russians did
to the Cfechs.

who
D: Yes, that is right. And remember that )m is
the/Premi%{ of Hungary, and were very close friends.

And there was a great deal of sympathy. Nowj—I-—must——al-se—say
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she for once)and this is remarkable for Hungarians as far as
politics are concerned, Hungarians have muffed things ##é
worst than probably anybody else. Remarkably, Hungarians for
once seem to be doing sSomething right. » who by the
way enjoys considerable personal popularity in Hungary.® In

Z

fact I always maintain that he should run for election. He would

)

even win, I mean if the election was...

H: Mayor Dailey did Qig? '2?
P © it 17 @
> D: Yes, exactly. 50 el by playing the role of the

//I
/

obed;ent son in Moscow and at the same time encouraging cultural
38nd economic contact with the western world3 /Khd not being too
koo
/Z» oppressive at home, _2mm basically done #at everything that

[) ———_tmmiried to do in Prague.

= /howeve;)dld the
stupid thing ®of yelling and screaming about how weonderful things

yeie . and .
g : , on the odadr hand does all thls;-uch—as keeping

| things cool and there is no friendship that is as close as that

/' of Russia and Budapest. 2And that is what the Hungarians cailed
/ the officiali\khss biﬁ'ﬁl;eriodically in Moscow and to satisfy
K R Md—-h— who a.lso periodically come and visit the
S— friendly sat%}ite andi;ggiﬁhﬁ“mmﬂﬁéﬁﬂﬂrwﬁ?aqun. Naturally,

if the Hungarians get too far @out of line or get too liberal

and there is too much of a western influence and if the

Russians begin to catch on, kk=nm which unfortunately they already
hav§)€g2%dhungary's living standard is far highﬁ%han the Soviet
Union's, then they immediately put on the screws.

H: Well)how about the the development of any nationalistic

feelings in Hungary are these pretty well channeled by the party?
D B ) -
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D: There is very strong ﬁationaliém in Hungary. The
idea that communism is an internationally oriented ideology
is one of the great myths. Furthermore,K another myth is that

il I

if you have what they call a socialPstnucture or a communist
social structure that yau all of a sudden forget:;housand years
of hatred and feel great brotherhood for those across national
boarders who are also Esocialist brothers, this is humbug. 5
The sense of frustration, the sense of hatgithat Hungariahs feel
toward their neighbors for various reasons/and what their neighbors
feel for them is at least as strong now aS if has ever been since
the end of the girst World Wart)lwhich is basically the cause
of the anger to the Treaty of!ktsnfwts ﬁpngary lost immense -
territories and huge blocks of pure Hﬁgga;ian population to the
neighboring countriesi>’ﬁgpecially in Romania where the Hungarians
are very severely oppressed. This causes tremendous amount of
ill feelings. On the odaﬂr hand}officiallXEZZe the Romaniani
and the Hungarians}and the East Germanéjand so forth are #®all
brothers under socialism. You cannot beat the table and say
lhell yoq+son of a bitches™.

H: he Russians could be nationalist?

D: Yes, that is just it. The Russians obviously can be

anythi@r they like.

H: Does this nationalism have any impact on the study of

/B{story M Hungary?

D: No, in the Stalinist era there were actually two major

trends in Hungarian historiography. Number one was to down

INC LS L R

Aﬂ"/—‘—*‘—"
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play all things which were memtraditionally considered to be
y Y- e VO

characteristic of Hungary. In other words, Hungary's”unusual

PN
feudal structur%Poth in the middle ages amd actually until the g

Jwvtnﬁ%ﬁéw

20&h century,all this was sort of down played. And the idea =
/Lnuibu

was actuallyYthe great of internationalism, all this

e s A 02 s T

kind of @mede "Hungarian characteristics" had no meaning. The “

- w
other interesting development in the Stalin''era wese to CJ&UIN+§L

everything that is Russian and wes emphasize Hungary's
similarity to it's Slavic neighbors, something that in the previous
j rsa
period was amount to heaeﬁgilyIn other words, Hungarians traditionall:
have always maintained that since they are non-slavs_ghat they

KEFUBEECg ‘e

don't want to have anything to do with this

E: Did the Russians try to prove that they were Slavas

somehow?
D: No, they didn't go that far. But they emphasizequor
<0
example, that in Hungarian lingquistic development, many of the

words that were picked up after the @conquest of the

are basically Slavic words. Also)great emphasis was put on the
fact that the Hungarians at one time or another lived in the
areaYtcday awhdich is Soviet Russia) ,Zﬁ other words, the e—0
A(' ~
) rioMr
d

s Eése/and they were situated in the

mountains and thé e IXAESEEXXEEEK Seca Reb@bn

to coming into

area just north of the Black Sea. All this was tremendously
emphasiZeqk _h order to sort of prove to the Russians to say,
: feon

'we sort of broke away Lfem you guys’but actually we are fond of

you.” In fact,-the-Russians destroyed the“citiesNan_Eéggd
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the women and so forth, thisYis not suppbsed to be mentioned.
Q’t L
H: Are thereVany histor}s s of the Second World War?

(> R
D: Yes, there-é%@‘for the first time, by the way, wirske Arle

I was there the second time in 197%;“;239§éé2§;a§§me-there appeared

a book dealing with a Hungarian Armyg) they called it the second
=

armyjb,ﬁot that they had that many, the second army that was
sent in 1942 to fight on the Russian Front.

H: On the German side?

D: Yes, on the German side. ;&aé/pp to this point)you see,
whenever this was even mentioned at ali; it was @only in a

fashion which was utter standlty and so forth and the Hungarians

everipthing

deserved amsdhinrg that they got. This new book)howeve;)trled

to emphasize the fact that since Hungary was at war with the

Soviet Unioqf this was not at all an unusual thing.

—
(

H: (Comment cant® be understood) -

D: Yes. And it also. for the first time at least implied
that all those men who fought on the Russiaq/front were not
traitors and the worst of the criminal element that @&you could

\,Uz—’rz
find) ,ﬁﬁt that these were patriotic Hungarians whoAdrafted into
the army,or who were career,officers or whatever #and were sent
) //’E/I J’PPQ{{
off there to fightji ﬂﬁ%kafufpt and what have yoqdand got the
hell beaten out of them. Thousands of them died either as a
YARIgus
result of #hess counter offenses or they were taken prisoners
A
and nobody ever sai them.
2
H:  That mupny ;o B
- ‘3 and /) vl R "L{"Ug@w/
D: Oh yes, roughly @ 188-000 men died.

H; ‘TR@;& —~yost DisAppAREDC

PSS

e
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D: Well, remember this is somethirig that very few
Americans know. One million and a half German prisoners of
war have never been accounted for. One million and a half is
an awful lot of.people. So there is a tendency to talk about
thingﬁjnaturally}in such a way that you don't offend the Soviet
Union,but at least there is somewhat of a revisionist kind of
movement. First of all, not everybody who held some kind of
position in Hungary prior to 1945 was a fasKist and had two
Jews for breakfast every morning. There were people_who were
middle of the road and there were people who were actually an£i-
German. Also)very interesting is the reEvaluation of the #position
of the communist party in the 1950's.lzg;e)during the Stalinist
era, and I have seen statistics on théég} more old communists
were executed in Hungarian prisons than ex-fasflists. In other
words, the revolution was eating its own children. —Reske, I
remember visiting an old lady who was an old communist from the
éirst World War era who had two sons. She was a Jewish lady by
the way. She had two sons who are now high party .functionk‘%riesg)
ga&:ye began talking and so forth.),xhd she said, "%éll, Professor
Domonkos, you have no idea what‘zsh went through here." And I

W&

thought tha%xwhen the Germans occupied Hungary in 1944. It

turned out that what she was referring to,was the Stalinist era

when communism supposedlyVﬁz;a{£5——££éﬁé2§;——n She said that

you never knew at ke night if in the morning you would wake up.

Her sons were always loyal communist members and so forth. But
e .

S
so many of as were lost at?that time:ﬁnd it is also interesting

that you will very often see in more recéﬁtl ublished works,
ar you Wi Y - ‘;X_E\~\\\\\



and he doesn't look any different than anybqﬂé else. 1In fact,SHQPqﬁg
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K PICTYRE of this comrade who played a major role in the Hungarian

resistence in 1944, played a major role in the party back in

the 1920's. <&m& then it will say during the period of the personality

o)
up charges he or she *°

|
~

was executed. Zmd it is almost like a form of._____——11> charges, ¢

—

cult in the early”1950's because of

o
personality cult and so forth. So you learn an awful lot about

a world which to us is entirely closed. How many communists

have you met? You could probably count them on your hands if you

Z

Q
have met any. But the average American doesn't met them. 2And

/1

. _ -
it is very strange when you first met one and you look at him

3
. ‘c
you find that there are a number of them who are quitefﬂrﬂiﬁj(Fubé(
You then begin to-:;;::Lwhyeguusﬁris he that, why am I not, and
that kind of stuff.

H: How many £h$éﬁi3 have you met?

D:: Well, I met them daily.

H: Does that work out that way too?

D: I think so.

H: Does that look at historical characters?

D: I don't know. Don, I think again my experience of
o
meeting some historia@%who were Marxist or who pretend to be

Marxist has made me I think more compassionate of individuals botﬁ,
I guess)to the left and to the right. In other words, I am far

/ \, —e
legs prone to conde‘ha person for being anything now thgi lets say -L

even five years ago. .ewd let me again emphasize, even five years

—
>

ago I was not the kind of guy that would go around screaming that

there was a "pinko" behind every rock. But—I_ think I understand
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human nature somewhat better because of this experience) ,fhe
very idea of survival under adverse conditions. And again, it IS
Cxtreme! g g ’ . :
“wmems difficult for us Americans to realize that not every nation
is a big powerful nation that can raddle its swordﬁ.and senjﬂ(
in its Marinesxand do things like that. Bhat- there are some very

wotiony
small naé@éls which are‘+°55&b in the storm of history. And

people who are part of the small nations)I gues%)must be able
to adapt themselves to different surroundings far more than we

have to. We can be grrogant and say well, what the hell is going

(o
to happen? ZXUsually nothing happens. You live*an entirely

different kind of atmosphere in a small country wherg%ou are
constantly exposed to the changes of government)t! even complete
changes of world view. And what do you do then? And how do
you cope with it?

H: 1Is this something that the Hungarians SOr:t of grow

up with? I mean)this is sort of part of Hungary's history from

r

the’beginning.

D: I think so. It is, I guess,6 far stronger in the period

, / ]

since the first World War then ever before. Remember that after

iy .

the first World War there was a basicallydemocratic revolution A~

-

M
“““b )whlch was then swept away by the only communist regime in &astern
Europe anywayj ’Which then was swept paway by a right wing regime
of Admiral » which was then again swept awayxs»@sx by

u,l:%na." AA.C&W}' .

an regime imposed by the gérmans, which was swept away

by the Russian armies, then sort of a coalition government @gntil

1948) ,Then probably the worst type of Stalinsm anywhere in
goPh
Eastern Europe am 194§ to about 1953 _Ahen a beginning of a kind

i £ 23 B
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oF X LETTING UP after Stalin's death, then the revolution, then
the tremendous repression. ,Then again a kind of a loosening;
all this 1n/gﬂ ;ears. That is a hell of a lot of changes.To
be able to spin with the wind, like the weathervegif(with all
theseYkind of changes,takeszI gues%Vthe skill of an acrobat.
Very few people are able to make these kind4of adjustments.
I think é;stern Europeans are more prone to be able to make
it over most others because it is a matter of survival.
H: Okay, leﬁsm get you out of Hungary and back to 1975.
D: Okay, after a year of thisx ,Kﬁd besides all of the
actual research that I did, one of the reallyvadvantages of this
wed e

year #s the large number of books that I was able to purchase

to bring with me. £
H: (@]

Had you started working _—— of

these books?

D: Yes.
Q
H: Was there a problem here, what was the problem?

-

D: The problem is basically t&o fold. It isagain a

disagreement with basic interpretatiorf. One is’that I already

A

0
- (#1luded to. 1In fact we have already discussed this iaaa.‘tz

aJs« W
what extent is the Ren:agennce 1§qa native or an importation?

And the second problem is one that hink will cause probably

7t
Q, far greater mamount of disquiet among'Hungarlanso is igdemd from

A )
what I have been able to gathejf the traditional view of

Matheos

as a great king who_ interviened in the wkaks affairs
Tokimiau

of the Holy Roman Empire’and so” forth only because he wanted

to sgcuxe_g,yerywstrongabase in the W i der to face the

power. g

A’

o N
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<
Turkish menace in the éést. I find really very little evidence

to support this. I think e was again a’

asuperbly capable
realist and opportunist. He made peace treaties with the Turks)
not for any noble reasons)but becausqrﬁénted to thkrow his weight
around i? the gsst R L fact)I think He was deeply mislead by
the papflcy into believging that the popes would support his

bit for the throne of Bohemia and thus got himself involved in

, baoica uaar % 7
an expensive disasteérous war in < and upper Bohemia.

&n8 I see really no indication that he had any ———— plans

P

of using his position as the King of Bohemia to further the

anti-Turkish cause) ,56 to a degree this will be a little bit of

b,
a debunking. Again, it is almost sort of an ax%ym of Hungarian

history. Here is the great Turk fighter, who because
/ - vedervick Z
of these bastards in the\@hst gets involved with Sedsss=Fk and

George

and so forth)//éht all he is trying to do is
secure his back in order to be able to throw himself whole
heartedlgﬁgist and fight those god damn Turks. This just isn't
so.

§i: Ppes this represent a shift in your interest to
political. e

D: No, my primary @ginterest is still cultural. But this,
g}nce I am planning to write the history of the age, roughly
g3f§2ars, obviously thés will have to be accounted. In fact)
he is Hungary's last major monarch. They have been going down

hill ever since.

H: I guess I am supposed to read up abotit his son,:jakh

e

BT 2~ S
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D: Yes, little JPhn. ;

H: Is this a strange case in iﬁgbelff

D: Yes.

H: You éggwlots of material.}7

D: Oh, there is no problem there ;i 3£ould also find lots
of time. The immense material that I have and theé things that
I could do with the material\ ;@ now I &could find the time
to do it, I gwould be all set.

H: It is just a matter of time.

D: It is a matter of time, not a matter of not having this
and that. I have the material. I could at this point, June 1975,
sit down and write probably a 700 to 900 page book.

H: You just need another Gabriel ultimatum?

D: It would be nice. Eva's ultimatums apparently are not
as powerful.

H: She tells you?

D: Oh yes)that I should get my rear end moving. Up to now,
@really not much success. |

H: Okay, so you then came back &ere?

D: Came back)and agéin because of the rules of the university,
I came back for two years\ ﬁtherwise, I wwould have to repay
some of my saﬁgtlcal money. Since then , I have had one major
chance at a job and apparently got very close to getting k.

Med dvayp
H: ThzZat must of been the director of the Mgésew#l Institute?

D: Yes.

He &How did you feel about that?

/——\\
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D: Well, b&e&ea&i¥>disap§§ointed but again I don't feel
that... I still feel that I am not going to die of old age in
Youngstown. So@ﬁ,ﬂay, something will come up. Until that (@comeg
I am not the kind of person who is unhappy. I am basically a
contented person. My collegues in the department, I find all
very pleasant.

H: What role have you played in the development of @the
department?

D: Well, my role has been actually sort of a triple
role. I have served as aZcting department chairman in a very
crucial year, 1969. This was the time of the establishment of
the Qlack studies proqfam. It was a very touchy situation with
a white man Don ______3 teaching Black history and there was
discontentjso I had to play very cool politics there. For
four years I was the director of the graduate program. I
actually saw it through the pains of childbirth. And I guess
my constant conptribution, it you can call it that, isvteaching

Vi dawgd |
in the area ofYRenaissance and Reformation.

H: Did you play any part in brindr;;ople into the depart-
ment?

D: Yes, I was very actively involved in the selection =&
pProcess of almost half of the department.

H: Half of the department has #come since you were here?

D: I was instrumental in talking Dave Behen into hiring
George Beelen. That is)I suggested several times that we hire

George Beelen, I had known George kemkp before. I was present

in imterviewing Jim Rhonda. I must say—f was-swmee not present
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. Frc - v .
_In interviewing Joe May. Lowel came here and trying to talk

him into coming hereij:) Berger, Jenkins, Amadi,_tvlah%akél;

and I sort of take special pride, I consider, probably nobody
€lse will think so, with the possible exception of Friedman,
I don't know whether he is happy or sad about it> ,Bﬁt I think

I am the one who discovered Friedman in a flotel room in New York
W
City, during interviewsleﬁhdvvery much impressed with his style)

K;d IXx Eéd him come for an interview. So every time Friedman
bitches and moans about Youngstown, he has every right to think

that I am responsible for all this.

st
H: Are &k you involved in such things like the acqu;Fion

of documents and books for the library?
,D: Oh yes, I have been on the library committee since
et udl 1mm Cmorials
time 4wmmozrad~/| I personally have through the years taken a very
active interest in the growth of the library. I am happy to say,

I brought a large number of kmmkxx collections of documents, the

~—————.. Series in English history, the ’

D

_ documents in Italian ,and the church history. I

was instrumental iqAFhe whole and , which

re the major works of the church fathers to Innocent III. All
of these, although¥not purchased by the history department)were
purchased by instigation because I went to departments that didn't
spend their allotment to get them. I got the whole —————em— assigne
to the/ﬁ%ilosophy department. It cost $15,000.

H: Fantastic. What do you feel about the quality of the

reseabch resources awilable here?

i
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D: Actually they are not bad. Now)obv1ouslx)1n my flelq,<
they are poor. One of the reasons kﬁsthat I have never built

up the library, the university library, because I have been

7

5

building up my own. i)

He (Cao‘:} undsns feam

D: XYes. As far as the research opportunities in medieval

/

and Renaissance in general are concerned, we do fairly well.
Bt e
It is not outstanding, but very good. However¥fields such as
French Revolution or Colonial America I think wflere the
collections are probably as good as you will find in most of
what I would call "mid-lane American" universities.
H: What sort of place is this to work in? %NJOL)’““LH awﬂ‘
D: I find the history department to be J‘lnterestlng)
pleasant place. Af least in my mind, what is very remarkable
is that here we have 19 people, many of them consider themselves
superior people)and still there is collegiality. No major
cliques have developed and that in itself is most unusual.
There is a very interesting feeling here that sme people)I
guess)know that they are expected to do some kind of scholarship.
However, there is no strong push ¥ or pressure applied
to any individual. The department chairman doesn't come up to
you and say, fyell)lobk in the last five years you have only
written five afticles, why not ten?" If you don't write anything
noZbody is going to come up to you and say why don't you. Aﬁ%hougﬁ)

I am quite sure that those who do not write feel that there is a

pPressure, an unwritten pressure)or an unspoken pressure)to do so.

A T A e s e
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And this basically come7éut at promotion time. The department
I think has veiy wisely taken the position that to be promoted
over hhis”leve{)and we don't have anybody below that, 30u
should show some kind of indication of scholarship. This has
éest unhappiness among some.but I don't think the xkind of

7
kunhappiness that is going to destroy -m® the university or the

department. It is the kind of unhappiness th;2q2¥omptt soéiody
to at least make some effort.

H: Should there be more pressure on people? Should the
chairman be coming around saying@& ... « . ¢ SPIY)

D: Well, I amEmxk almost wgish he did3 /Egpeciallyy(;};m
quite sure that I am not the only one who works well whenever
there is some kind of even gentle pressure. Amé I also know
that there = are some individuals who absolutely need to be
pushed in this direction or otherwise they won't do it. But

it is basically a very healthy atméﬁbhere here. There is no

excessive academic snobbery, at the same time\I thinkjthere is

/ o+
a genuine desire to make or to keep this department one of the

better ‘ones at the university.

H: Aﬁd you feel that it is one of the better ones?

D: I definately think so.

H: Has the department then been pretty much the same all
the time that you have been here?

D: The department grew immensely since I have been here)
/Bﬁt in the last five years has been static. At the time that

I came here the o0ld timers were Dave Behen and Scardon.

——
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H: Well you thought it was a pretty good department before
when you were a student?

D: Yes, I always thought that it was a darn good department
before. Then with the addition of a whole slew of young members,
eé%ecially in the period immediately following the joining of
the state system)it has &@greatly improved the department. I
think it is basically unfortunate that so many people here have
been unable to move.

H: Qﬁt youvmean?

D: Yes. Because that also has other advantages. Not only
do you get new blood, but filets presume that Fred Blue goes to
UCLA3 ,Egd UCLA is looking for a medlevhllsfﬁyﬁrwcan say, "I
know a guy who is not bad."

H: The basic — really isn't?

D: Znd this is especially the case now when jobs are hard

<

to find. %ﬂ:bt #of schools go through the process of advertising

because...

LQ_ C)(}\Q (QO(U'?‘ff W&G/A%’j‘ D

H:

D:. Yes, legal requirements. But in most instances whether
pPeople admit it or not, that is a dry run. They already have
their man, they already practically have their man under contract
when they run these damn things through the paper.

H: You don't write into the New York Timeglthe Sunday
section ads?

D: Hardly.

Hs Q¢ you think those are fake?

D: Most academic positions I think are.
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Hs .

D: No, actually the place where most historians get their
j?pﬁgégnot through the New York Times or any of these thinggg?
y%;ere is a bulletin published by the HA.

H: Are those fake too?

D: Of course they are.

H: You were chairman of the department here and this was
when Pres@édent Pugsley was here. Do you have any general obser-
vations, I guess)I wouldn't limit it to the chairmanship period,
but things outside of your work as a historia§< /Pﬁre and simple
in terms of administrative experiences here and other extra
curricular univeristy activies?

D: Let me put it this way) /And this might not be the
answer that you want to hear bu£ that is the truth. I became
absolutely convinced that most of the work that is cal§le7adminis—
trative work is the type of work that can be efficiently done
by a good secret@ry. The chairmanship is one of the most over-
blown jobs. amd I think it is even more overblown now then it
has ever beeqﬂ‘,EEpecially since collective bargaining. As I
said, you might not think that this is the right answer that you
want to here, but this is basically how I feel about it. Many
of the tasks assigned to the chairman are absolutely idiotic
tasks that.should be assigned to a clerk}t&lling out various

L
reports,¥ inventories,and so forth. Now again, I must say that

J
in the back of my mind is still always this basically European

and to some degree better American university view of what a

chairman's role is. A chairman is first among equals, but one

et e e
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/WﬁOfGIVES intellectual leadership to a department, gives it

a certain . He becomes chairman, not because

)
he is the most efficient paper sh%ffler)but because in that

department, in his field)in the profession he is probably the

best man, the most recognized individual. Obviously, today

except for a few exceptions)this is not what chairmen do. Chairmen
come into the chairman}s position basically to administerg the

e

department allots him this travel money)and as I said, take s

&

inventory and so forth. /' found my brief period as acting

chairma;%r:ther disappointing from this point of view. It
would have been far more disappointing if I would have gone into
the position expecting all kinds of fantastic things) ﬁgying
that here I am reaching the high point of my career. I knew
that this would be, first of all, a one year appointment and
I looked upon it as basically a caretakers job. Maybe this is
why I didn't find it:zzﬂinteresting as possible. I do think)
though that even under the present circumstances, a chairman
can exért a*positive influence on the department, both by his

by colleaqu L
own scholarship,vhis manner of dealing with Ge&&egées and others,
and also by the way that he socializesg. I think that socializing
has an extremely important role iﬁtQZademic fiwvorld. I don't mean
standing around with a bottle of champagne in your hand and being
drunk. I mean having department meetings for example where you
meet and somebody maybe reads a paper. But this is all done in
a fairly civilized atmosphere with a bottle of wine and what have

t

You~——IFf-the chariman is able to encourage,—if-he has the style
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to be able to pull this ofﬁ, I thinkYwould enhance the
of=khe department. No%,both Dave Behen and Hugh Earnhart were

. &
absolutely against any kind of social contact with their collegues. -

A
X®¥X H: Really?

e’

D: Yes, and I found this to be rather”unfortunate short-
coming of both men% ,ﬁ;pedgially in the case of Hugh. I don't
know whether...

H: But through the soqajl thing, you feel that there really
is a chance for intellectual leadership?

D: Even under these circumstances, yes.

H: When you were running the graduate program, did you feel
that you exerted some intellectual leadership, that you have
influenced yoquollggues at all?

D: I don't thinke; was a very good graduate director.

H: You don't Fhink you were?

Ds m,’ I &=. I began the whole thing with considerable
enthus%%% and I thought that here amwas a great chance for
Youngstown to have a graduate program. I was thoroughly dis-
illusioned by the way the whole graduate program at this place
was conceived, how it is to this day carried on, the type of

: e
1ndividualéyho are "'pointed to associate)and even full graduate

faculty status, this is by no means an intellectual meet.
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HOVEY: This is a» i rview with P ssor Leslie Domonkos
/

for You#éstown ate Universit Histor'aﬁ:/iyég;; by pén 1d

Hovey at Dr. Domonkos' office mat approximately 3:09/b.m.\pn

June 5, 1675. O O (@)

H: Last time we had started to discuss some of your

activities outside of the realm of purely history teaching
oo

of scholarshigﬁ?,@? talked "the chairman and your work in setting
up the graduate program. As a matter of ss® fact you were
discussing your disillusionment I think of some aspects of
the graduate program and I wondered if we could persue that
and also perhaps if you could tel’gbout some of your other
activities that you have engaged in. I know you are active
in the OEA and the other things that you have been doing in
the community.

D: Okay. How should we proceégi Do you waht to start me
off by some direct question?

H: Why don't we continue with your feelings about the
graduate program? Or have you pretty much gone over that?

D: I think I have pretty much wound up. I am very firmly
of the opinion that the graduate program here really got off
on the wrong start.

H: Throughout the university?

D T Ehink iso: qﬁﬁ in fact one of the things that I

maintain is that the ﬂ&story/ﬂepartment is one of the few
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departments has very c;isci:g;iousfg ;%zed to make the
graduate program what a grSaduate program is intended to do.
We have very carefully selected those individuals who we
recommend for senior and associate status. We do not allow
Nongraduate faculty to teach courses in which graduate students
are enrolled. In other wor$§{s, based on our understanding of
what a graduate program should be im many of us can remember

e )

our graduate years“not having been so terribly long ag?) I

by

am quite sure “tfried or hoped that the same kind of standards
N

that we were subjected to would be egtablished here. One of

X

the real shocks, actually the first time that I realized that
this graduate program is M never really going
to amount to too much, is when I saw that a young man that

I had met the year previously when he was m hlred here,
his first job out of school, named to full membership, senior
membership on a graduate faculty. I can not imagine how a
yoqul man on whdﬁdéploma the ink has hardly dried’has alreada
2213232325 academic background to be made a seniof member of
the graduate faculty. I also can see how this sort of thing
can cause others to look at our institution with some Egﬂgnsﬂﬁﬁb
eye or even poke fun at it. Can you imagine writing back to
your former professor saying’I have just completed my first

year of teaching at Youngstown Staée University and I have been

made a seniorﬂmember of the graduate faculty. I mean it is

A
graduate school, thé&se sort of things I think J€ccured very
~7

. o -
JUBICROVS .%\d in an effortgwto have instant faculty, instant

often. The lack of a strong leader at the helm of the graduate
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school I think is one of the major Ereasons why this has occus?d.

H: What activities have you been involved in in the community?
ARe you active in the church?

D: No. I have not been a very active meinber of my church.
-for a brief few yeéérs I was the first vice-president of the
Hungarian éouncil of éhurches and societies in Youngstown.
In fact, I held that post #when I resigned to go off to Hungary.
I was never again asked to serve. I don't know whether it is

because I was foolish enough to accept the hospitality o§ the

i, or for other reasons. But I may also say that
I am delighted that I have never been asked again abecause I
do not see much futrure for Hungarian societies in Youngsitown.
Much of the activities there are very petty and of very little
importance whaéjsé:;ver. Furthermore, I qgave been far more
deeply involved in my own personal research and more involved
in school. So there are just so many hours that you can devqgte
to these kind of things.

H: Do these societies play any role in atteggpting to

perpetuate the Hungarian culture aﬁa knowledge of the life

?

D: Yes, they have indirectlthhey recently established

. . . =
a Hungarian school in which one of our collggues teaches, Steve

-

—e and his wife. &xx?-from that point of viewqg guess they
are finally)after many years of inactivity, trying to do something
that is worth while. I send my kids to the school.

H: Is this a full-time school?

D: Oh no, this is every Saturday night_and Friday night

e S
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,Egé-h:ﬂ hours.

H: Is this basically language training?

D: Yes, it is basically language training. It is designed
brimarily for second and third generation Hungarians whose
abilities are either nill or very limited. So it really comes
to the point where my children areg one fof the most advanced
in there because at least they can speak, not very @&well, but
at least speak it. ?

H: %D W'\'MN 0.'\ &CA‘M MD(O you speak
Hungarian at home?

D: Yes, we are strictly bilingual at home3 )Which means
that we go from one language to another with trémendous ease
and completely without any realization that we are sometimes
changing in mid-sentenCé)or fix ﬂungarian endings to gEnglish
words or vice versa. So then it becomes an interesting

<mrd- whatever my wife and I do not want to have

_}O'CE VR R
e

the children underszand.@what we are saying, then we speak
German to each other. That frustrates the children immensely
and encourages them hopefully to take up German. Then we will
have to seek refuge in something else.

H: How about involvement in political activities? Any
school boards or anything?

D: None. ©No, none whagjsé:éver. I must confess that I
am not a political animal. To me local politics holds very
little interest. I keep up as much as possible with world

events. I read Timep I read the daily newspaper, usually the

Sunday New York Times. I even listen to—short-wave radio on
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ngésion k¥just to get another

3 ,Either BBC or the

or something. But exactly which party dominates
politics locally or even on a state level leaves me very cold.
H: The fact thit your offige Fooq:ﬁate is a member of
ot Oclimn wpliice
the local councilYdoesn't have any kind of positive effégt on
you at all?
D:No, not at all. -In fact}possibly it has the opposite
results when I see W it takes so much of his time away from
things which I feel I couldn't afford. Jha+75“5

H: But you were active in the {%ns for the contract

for ?

D: Yes, now that=tses= I got into that whole business in
msort of a strange way;!/ﬂimost like mgPontious Pilate got
into the/¢ieed after w;shing his hands and saying he doesn't
want to have anything to do with the business he still got in
there. I guess several years ago, nq'the second year of the
contract I had a number of occasions expressed to my coll%ﬁhes
in the department and even in conversation the diséatisfaction
with the contract as being basically insufficient in its monetary
provisions. I have always been a very firm believer in faculty
rights. So although I am basically apolitical, I am at the same
time very strongly pro-labor. This pro-labor view I guess stems
from two things in my earlier ayouthg‘ My father's association
with the United States Steel Workers when he became a laborer
in the United States) ,Kﬁd the realization that it is @basically

because of labor contracts that we were able to live in this

country on an economic level equal to a-middle-class standard
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of living in Europe.
H: That is true.
D: That is true. An American laborer has the material
goods of a middle class European3 /Ahd this is due basically to
the fact that labor unions have been able to get a fair share
of profits and what have you. The other reason for my basically
pro-labor views has been my own involvement aqfretail clerks
union member in the labor movement back when I was working as
a producerddgk clerk. #& I saw how vulnerable some of my friends

! Yy :
were who worked in non _uynion stores. dméd if the store manager

\ e wary |
didngt likeYthey looked or said anything contrary to what was
considered accepted policg;:;g'were out the next day. Obviousl¥)
with the @protection of the union, the management J:s much more
understanding of the deviation of the norm. So I guess it was
a combinations of these two thingsfi Furthermore, you see my
very deep involvement in the history of-the/zﬁiversities in
graduate school and since gives me sort of man extra advantage
over many of my colligues. I know that the univeréity, how the
university started. &A@ there was basically unions of professors
who unionized in order to prevent explotation by the chancelor
or by-!ﬁ)ishop or by the students. So to me, the argument that
joining a union is not professional, is basically an opinion
based o;?zgzgﬁénce oftgrigin of the profession of which we are.
The university was formed as a corporation of masters or professors
to protect their rights. ﬁﬁdgtge whole idea of election of

officerixgkhe university from president on down, I consider

-

» L{/ - .
'Eﬂigﬂtg_b%qperfectly legitimate concern of_the faculty. The
K \
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ELECTION OF DEANS, THE election of presideqtéf’l find perfect
historical parallels to this and ofsur—sovciety. _Se=the-

H: 1Is this a continuous tradition?

D: Well, it is in some countries. For examp%i)in Vienne;r
thefﬁg;n is still elected by faculty. Furthermore, there is a
rotating system where the university chancelor is one of the
four deans weach year on a grotating basis. In other words,
the faculty of philosophy, which is arts and sciences, the
faculty of medicine, theology and law, the four deans alternate
and the university senate and the deans and the head men run the
university. And it hasn't fallen apart. 3 Svot

H: Did your expertiéé in the history of -the mxSiversity
actually play any part in the discussions in the negotiations
themselves?

Bz Well/only in a per;th?*bsense. For example, in the
discussions with the other side, the whole idea of the department

chairman being co-egual but first among equals of the faculty,

a view obviously not shared by members of the group or some

o

)

members) I was able to expound on this in considerable length

/fﬁrthermore, even on such trivial matters as referring to the
universtiy to administration as the previous contract
referred to. I raised the issue that the university is not the
administration. The university is the faculty and the students.
The administration is a rather late and basically unfortunate
development that come between the two.

———H+—What do you do for entertainment? ———m___
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What do I do for ente{ihinment?

H: 1Is that sort of an artificial question?

D: I love music, primarily the classical an%/B;roque
period. I have a very good collection of records. If al want
to relax and unwind, that is what I do. I paint on occasion.

H: What sort of paintings do# you do?

b:- 1 p;iint in o0il, not originals,.just copies. I make
nice reproductions of

Re wloA oA

—_— 0 _ Man and/I;e Iron Mask and stuff like that.

and and

H: And you do this just for relaxation?
D: Yes, strictly for relaxation. 1In fact/when I was all
wound up in the negotiation process, I then proceeded to start

on a painting which® I will probably finish in abuout Eyo weeks.

D ) MVihata

It is a fairly large canvas, 48" by 36". It is 3._~_75__ Scene
.‘:u/’/; @ NFI

based on a painting by Pof the 18&h century.

H: Does this tie in with your archétectural...

D: Yes, I think so. Especially in this particular case

the central building in this particular Venecian scene is the
4 -

famous church of s - It is'one of my favorige

architectural things. I have spegnt a great deal of time studying
how the damn thing is put together. And by kpainting it I think
I know it well enough to be able to @®really understand how the
architect was put together.

H: Do you play any musical instruments?

Dz Unfoftunately not. This is one of my great disappointments
in life. Having xbeen brought up under the rather spartan

condi;ignsﬂprevéﬂing in Europe in the the-3940's and the early
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1950's.." .

H: There were no grand pianos?
D: No, there were no grand pianos in refugg?camps. I
o
mqaé this in all seriousness, it has given mewgreat deal of

anguish that I cannot do anything. I can whistle Beethoven's

Aﬁhlhl;_yébncerto or Mosart's piano concerto for hours and it

gives me tremendous joy. And ther%is nothing that I can do

/
with my hands/ I have ;eally regretted this.
H: I may have asked you this the other day but what sort
of books have you read in the last couple of months?
D: What sort of books have I read in the last couple
of months{;m*actuallm outside of my immediate field, I have not.
h

That is I have nﬂg read a nove} in rac; probably about a year.

H: Most of the reading that y.ou do is dns..
D: 1Is in my field, that is either connected with my research

ov\\\5€61n14
on the Hungarian 4 r theae are books related to my

y\mva\u}
teaching of medleval andfggnagﬁsaﬁse history.

H: ©So you don't look at kreading as mmee a form of general
escape?

D: Oh-well you see)agaiqx\it is very difficult for me to
say when I read something because I am seeking information or
seeking to expand myself or when I sit down and go through my
book shelf and pick up some work and I read two or three chapers
and I put it down because I don't know whether I am expanding

my mind and doing wmseat work or am #hav1ng a great time?

-

H: This is why you are in this business.
R e ol
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D: I am in the business) /It is ¥my hobby) and I am B
getting paid for it.

H: I realize that to use the word® entertainment might
suggest you need some sort of artificial enjoyment.

D: Yes, you don't really necessfarily have to have...

H: YOu don't have that need, you really enjoy what you are
doing?

D: Exactly. This doesn't mean that I don't enjoy going

off to the Playhouse to see AFlay or go off to the Youngstown e

DY T o c

Symphony to hear a concert or take my kids to Jres Auditorium

to go see . All this I consider entertainment
wrnld

and I consider it part of the general cultural life that I¥like

to be Bable to lead even in_E&YUM*gsuﬁinb . It is sort of:a
\

natural thing to do, it is not artificial in the sense that so
Raocl.

much money is set aside gg&h month for "entertainment"} /wa we

got fifteen dollars left, let's go and entertain ourselves.

H: Like we are going to go to the Playhouse and enjoy
it whether we like it or not?

D: Exactly , it doesn't work that way. If facE,we don't
belong to the]giayhouse and we don't belong to the q§ymphony
for the simple reason that we do not like everything thatﬂthey
produce and we don't like everything that tﬁb play. 2% it

is a symphony that they are playing and

Rovel and , obviously we are not going to go.

Even if they get the most fantastic guest artist to mcome in,
we just won't go.

—Hr——You wouldn't go if there was some—kind of music that

didmn't appea) to you?
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D: Exactly. I can stay hom?/and although I know that a lot

Of people would be appa‘led at this, but I would much rather put

on the Mozart piano concerto. And although it is a it E
e 1) 3
artificialfsituation where I do not see the orchestra and do not see

go through the various ) I
will enjoy that far more than ig even Arthur Rubenstien was at the
Powers Auditorium giving the most fantastic rendition of a Samuel
—— Piece. I didn't care for that.

H: I am going to ask you some questions that to some degree
you might%;:Z:ﬁunﬂto answer.

D: Okay.

H:'ﬁﬁﬁ&f9ne of them is whether you see any connection between
your nonhisto;ical activities such as théFEA and being the‘gepartment

chairman, this sort of thing, and your work as a historian. You

really have answered that in one direction ., that the OEA negoatining

)

thing that you brought ;%ot int® from history. Does that participation
in what you would call union activities, does that have any impact

on your work as a historian?

D: Very littls/Don. I don't think it has in any way changed

either my world outlook or my techniques of teaching o%anything.ddhu” .

) H: That happens to be the next guEsxk®m question. And that is

about whether you have shown that you have a particular

point of view as a historian?
D: Well, that is probably the most difficult question you have

asked me in all the interviews. It is very difficult to answer for

________;Qg simple reason that I don't particularly care mfog-I;;;IE‘Ef“-\

e
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conservative, liberal, or anything like that. But then when making

Statements about e + I guess you cannot a them. i?
woe P
Let me try to put it somehow in this fashion. I consider -
myself basically A sort of a secular humanist with a considerable
liberal socialist notions who views the world basically in
Optimistic terms. Even after all the things that I ﬁbersonally have
been through, I really feel that the demise of the world is not
upon us Jfhat mankind has muttled through the same problems before.
O U\%
I mewt say that this means...

H: You mean that this is not the first time that things have

looked this bad?

D: No, this is not the first time things have looked this bad.
It doesn t mean, however that I believe that the of
the &ESt will contlnue. “Fn—that=sense—I-mi« ht_be O
9O WAQLQ‘ wat P bedower Wighd e o Pa Tt Gion, v‘k. rMw,.,
BRQRa. . . O when I mean western, I mean western European and the

United States. A new type of world might develop in which

the power might be, the power cSnters will probably be some wheii
else. Although obviously, my whole life experience, my wholeWresearch
has been{western historyf I am not a %hﬁﬁ:glgi to the point

where I im must say that this is the only type of history that

is valuable and the western acheivement is the ultinf®ate achievement

—

in mankind. I am quite sure that other people widd views equaU%

F PRl Sl
Zmd valid and that the e of this western stame that we

have been able to put on the world for so long might be to some degree

benefitial. I don't know if that answers anything.

h-__—_-ﬁ‘ﬁ“‘~\\
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D: Yes, it does. There is one othéqx thing along the same

wer
eme that I am curious about and that isyy whenVany major historical

works or great accomplishments in history that seem to provide a

model for the kinds of questions in history that yoJFhink are

useful to ask, and the kinds of answers that are appropriate to come
‘4f‘uithf

D: Well, actually in my field three important works are very

much in the forefront. zﬁﬁﬁ'%?ey are the work of Béesdé Edward Gibbon

¢éas to the transition fom tﬁé antique into the medieval world)

/Né£ur&lly all of the critics of Gibbon) /Kﬁd then the next major work

that again is sort of a major historigraphical step is the work 2?

&

of e —— , the great Belgian historian about the develop#uif

of gestern European culture as a separate entity from the previous
o

and the creation of the Germanic West. Amd=then the third major ,;7

book is o Study of the Rengﬁégqsé and all of the -

questions that it brings to the floor and all of the answers that

AV

a2hve been given in response to the —___ . So there are actually
three books which at least in the field that I deal with)are

basic cornerstones em which you can then attack various other
problems.

H: How do they shape your attack?

D: Now, in the case of all of these books, they have a basic
kthesis. Therefore/in order to understand the development of
early medieval history, you have to understand what Gibbon said,
and you have to understand what his thesis has caused in the

writing of history) /What kind of counter-thesis were offered

as partial or whole explq’hations of what we have said. So each

e e et
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one of these books then Bewmgs develops a cbmplete historiography
around it which then opens the way for new ways of looking at
things. §o these are sort of eye-opener points along the way.

Sort ofYguidelines.

| ) 77?7

H: _Apd-you feel quite consciously working on a historical

WalE

(_\_)

b: Exactly, exac&&y.

proble%ﬁ\thaAFhe problem is wsomewhat defined by and that you really
can't define the problem withogt getting back to these people?

D: Well, when I deal with basically these three segments of
Aég history, these i consider biblical. g H;’ffA%

H: Now looking at Qgggg and the universitiesl do these still
shape your thinking there?

D: Wwell, and his opponents aor his critics, particularly

and others, obviously have influenced my” view of what

the Kenaissance can be or should be) /fi’le idea of what civic humanism

is. All this is absolutely essentidl for my understanding of to what

degree the Italian Renaissance was able to infiltrate Hungary and

to what degree Hungarian relations are really valid

w”‘“’e relations/ or whether they are just simply based on

sartieadaon,
political expediency fﬂgg at thatflime.

H: Have you ever deliberately decided not to work on a particular
historical problem?

D: No.

H: I &think that you answered this one before but what con-
stitutes a problem in history for you? What makes something a problem

requiring investigation? \ﬁy o A ¢4@%ﬂ6 ﬁ&u41;5vl
- —-\“—N

e st mpar”
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D: ‘It is not a crazy gquestion, it is é damn good question.
It is the kind of thing that where in the hell do you hold on to
it? I guess after you teach for a long time) /yﬁere you have done
research in a field for a ¥owg time, you will detect a certain
axigm that &ég{repeated over and over again. -&Amd I guess if you are
going to specialize in that field then you must begin t9$=begéﬁ
raveling backwards to try to see where does this maxibm begin?

H: You mean an axiam in the sense of an event repeating
itselfBL a eameluaven.

D: No. Let's take an example. Almost all history books will
say that after the end of the War of the Roses, England having
exhausted itdlgf elects a new dynasty to Tutors and Henry VII becomes
the kind of England. Henry Vil allies himself with the middle classes.
EX Now this is repeated, repeated, repeated. So if this is the é‘;({b! {%
specialization that you are in, then I think that it is absolutely
necessary to find out what is this axiOm base~d uponbfﬁfgat the end
of the War of thdRoses and the rise of the reliance)én the middle
classes under the early tutors is an absolute factf So you begin
examining where the main sofirses of revenue for the king are and
you might find that it is not in the tradition middle classes that
he finds his support, but he will find it among the upper class
merchants and so forth. So this then holds true basically for
all things. ©Now obviously, k& we constantly repeat axiQms established
by others through the yeaggs. Now when I began my work in the
period of the Hungarian Renaissance, there was this axitm repeated

over and over again that Hungary had a fairly long Italian connection ,

e e — ——

—

————
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A lot of students went to Italian universities and so forth. It
was a fﬁ}tile ground fo%thezggception of the Italian ideals. This
then is almost elevatéd to the position of gbeing gospel truth.
Aﬂ&;gfter working in this perio%/and I guess even after having
written my MA thesig,I was somewhat seduced by this history)

/A%ter wanting almost to believe it yourself.

H: The natural attraciton of these idegs is that
Pros-t Wt Bwd andd A Gﬂabgﬁéx ar-ct Lluﬂ%éé'

D. Exactly.
P : .
H: cultural interests.
Pz Now/if you begin to really anay?ze this very problem, you
will find that this whole axiom is a very tenuous kind of thing.
So in the case of the Renaissance in Hungary, closer examination
shows that a lot of people have gone off to the Italian universities
wwnd Resmd
and have come back wieh”important ecclesiastical positions and
SO forth, but this «still then means that only at ———__ centers
of the royal court and so forth do we find an interest in our
humanistic scholarship. Lacking in the whole Hungarian picmture
)
is the kind of environment that you find in a more highly urbanized
society. Amd let's face it, the Renaissance is, there is no P
— /
Florence, there is not even a Nuremburg or an Outsburg. So in a’r‘ 0
whie . : =
environment whxe it counts we are in fact on the decline in the

second half of the fifteenth century. Again,if you examine this

/
whole business closer and read all of the printed material, you
will find that all of a sudden the axiom doesn't work anymore.

H: This is what wreally got you turned on to begin with,

is something that everybody keeps saying these things and you get

suspicious?
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D: Exactly. This is the same thing with, as I have already

expressed about going off fighting in the west

against i FH“““&#III and against the Bohemians because

+ka3

he wants to go out and defeat the Turks. Well, this tmkem becomes

an accepted Hungarian historical view some time i:dthe 1880's
I have been able to trace it that far back) And T=®awve been
repeated by practically every author ever since.

H: Are you just naturally suspicious or is there somelthing
that just doesn't ring true about these things?

D: I guess I am not naturally suspicious. I don't think if
is part of my nature. But I think as a historia} you have to be
suspicious of things that have almost been sdﬂ@pified.

H: Don't you accept these things as quite believeable?

D: I am quite sure that a lot of things are quite beliqubble.
#md if I took any one of these history books and went down
sentz;ce by sentence, basically all of these are axioms. And if
you really began poundlng away you wowld probably find that 2

fwinty  pe reendt  eghtr ST
the sﬁu&cture would cruble in about %9% of it and about 88% of it
would probably stand up. I just happened to pound away at two
axioms that crumbled.

H: Have you xever felt fearful of your historical work, with
the ridicule or censure of your conclusions?

D: No. I have been fearful that somebody else might publish

something like this peeofe I do. I found Emat a chap that was

working on something similar at Rutgers, but from everything that

%&om"(' SUAne
I have been able to gather Iwoniywwentiat T w1th the kind of

A i
seriousnessr\:g“"*‘“ \g “f)\.v»k SI\A\V&& W
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H: Have you ever felt that what you were doing as a
historian has required courage?

D: No, because you see,againimy field is @not the kind of

fiel%zy.- Look, if I prove, for example)that maybe was

| 'o*

not such a tremendous hero after all, this will not create a major
psychological damage in the minds of a lot of people. XXKHA¥E

H: You feel that people will still mspeak to you?

D: I have absolute confidence that they will for the simple
reason that I have no illusions that my work, even if it will
be published by hopefully a good university press and so forth)

/énq}again, even though it might be very wéll received by the

scholar community, it will not have any major impact on "popular
thinking" or things like tha?? I came forth with a thesis such
as FDR was a homosexual, it would taﬁiya certain degree of courage
to stand up and say this-because ;&inﬁﬁkéz_still a lot of Americans
is sort of a great national symbol. Homosexuality‘for all it reasnns)
is still not the most popular kind of am&'\; and I don't
know whether you call it an f&ff&f&iﬁ: or not. <Amd so it would
take that kind of courage. But mby the very nature éf my field

(UYN » there is not that much apple cart to upset.

- H: How about in your teaching, does that require that you

take dangerous positions that might be socially and ?ﬁﬁ@hcaﬁJ*b

unpopular?

D: Again, you know as well as I do kthat I don't teach
anything that is controversial. But the most controversial thing
that I even come close to is the Reformation. But in an age when

&)«,'\,' &

P\C r "i
probab;ywzgg_gj the people &sitting in the audience don't give a
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god damn about religion anyway, will I be shocking Brotestants
or Catholics or anything, I really don't think so.

H: You don't mdeliberately try to shock people by revealing
scimandals about the Vatican?

D: Oh/I do that a little bit.

: Could you tell me something about your habits of work!)
i/ﬁbrking as g{historian either on research or in preparing material
. for teaching. Do you go with a schedule, do you keep material,

what do you do?
D: I think that probably the best way to answer that is
to take lectures and articles as an example) Peabt isflectures
for class or public 1ectu§§ that will evenfually become an article.
¥The usual method that I employ is, after I‘fﬁ(éble to establish
or if I am told that you are supposed to¥a iecture on this anithai)

Then I proceed to read on the subject all that I can) ,G%ten

{

without taking notes. Then after I have read 'uagéasagﬁiﬁ* on

J

the subject, this might be reading every night or every second
Dight for about a week or two, “®hem I quit for four or five dayéj
‘Aéi then I think about it.

H: Deliberately?

D: Oh yes, very deliberately. I think about it while driving
the car, I think about it before going to sleep, I almost live the
damn thing. 5ﬁ,fact, this has actually ngpened. There have been
instances where I was involved in writing an article or lectugé
where I dreamt about the individuals I worked on. For example,
for a while back about six years ago, I wrote an article on a

Polish astronomer by the name of . I will give
\“—.—-—

o
o

\
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you a copy of the article. I actually dreamt that I met#f the
guy. -Amcs I asked him questions about things that I wasn't too
sure about based on my readings.

H: Really?

D: I get very vivid dreams. I dream in technécolor.

H: Did he answer you? .

o guet

D: I don't remember, that is %ew& the problem. The next
Morning I woke up and I remember the whole sequence of events
and there were no...

H: Could you femember the questions that you asked?

D: Qﬁ yesw I wanted to find out if he took all of his

astronomical instruments back to — with him after he Zz:

left Hungary in 1492? And"Ilnever found out, I am still wondering.

H: And this was in complete costume of the period?

D: Oh yes.

H: It was authentic to the last detail?

D: Authentic, as least as much as I can remember, or as one
imagines things to be authentic. So after this very intensive
thinking, I am pretty well able to determine where I am going,
what method will I employ in this. Then usually in the documentj}
in the articles,am& that I have consulted and the books that I
have read, usually I in%gert 11 kiqﬁs of papers indicating which
#passages are of value. Wha theééérmans call & ;7

e &
I make notes in the margins, underline things and what have ayou.

H: All these books are you{bwn?

1
’ ‘ A
D: Oh-ves, obviously. I would never do anything like this 7%7%&;0

-

e
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that belong to the university or some other.collégue. And E?en
I have a rather weird way of operi}ing. Again, I usually bhen-
re-read these sections, very pertgnent secidoms of information.
Then the actual birth of the paper is an extremely messy affair.
I ws=dixxs usually go off to the dining room and spread my =apapers
around and my books and zerox copies of articles and what have you.
I then get these long msheets of legal size paper and I sit down
and begin to write with all this material lying aroundt)/dﬁ the
floor, on the window sill, on the table, and I have a fairly good
memory for knowing this bit of information is extremely well
illuminated in my book. I go to my book and I find the kpage and
I analyze it and immediaéély write the fooé:;ote on the second
page and Bbring the thing toCgether. Then having put it on paper
once and remember English is not my native language, I do
two things; I began reading the damn thing aloud to myself.

H: This is after you write it all the way through?

D: Oh yes. After having comJpleted the thing then I

ReAdin (0

begin w&iting the thing through for how the thing sounds and

them I can make gram@#cal corrections and ———___ and what
qroami T cod
ever. Then I do what I urge every good husband to do; I give

it to my wife who is also my greatest critic. She then goes
through, and her English is better than mine, her spelling is
far superior to mine, and she then proceedgs to read it. Then
I usually ask one or two colle%hes in the department to read

A

it L e . Collgﬁues have been very helpful, Jim Rhonda,

. | Slowun oood

Agnes Smith, and Morrisvhave all at one time or another read‘+ﬂu?g¢JLWw
U,

T b , ; denkl
326' Qﬁ&uﬁﬁgd f%' : ,Aaﬁ>9nly after havingheard their criticism,

o
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often again linguistic as well as criticism on the content, then
I incorporate these. Usually not a;yays, not all criticism is

oS NS 4, 1
valid. I mincorporate these things, tha¥¥have sl That

1

is how I work. Now obviously on a lecture for class, the part
7ol

about having my wife read it and collegues is pretty well left

out. g q v G

H: Do you take notes on 4=ga6. cards?

D: Oh yes, I take notes, not on X 4x6 cards. Again, if I
am working on something/notes are usually on long sheets. Notes'
are basically aon where I will find material on a particular
subject.

H:‘\Q$t = e ?>

D: Usually not.

H: What do you do in work in the archigves and so forﬁk?

D: Now, that is a completely different story. This appl
to situations where I have my own books available. I have notes on
archigval materiah’on cards,on sheets of paper) or whatever I was
able to pick up.

H: Are the;?sirbatum kind of material?

D: They are obviausly direct i@tin quotations and that

)

H: But if you have the book in yuour po%%ssion or readily

o~

nonsense) - and what have you.

accessible.
D: VY I underline more than I...
H: Your notes will tell you what it is, and where it is in

/

the book, and what it is about?
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D: - Exactly. .
H: So when you actually do the work, you actually go fet
the bock itself? -
D: Yes, and not the note. Which also eliminates a major
source of ereating problems. Because the more you recopy and the
more you notes you take and then incorporate and recopy again, the
Chances of something Sizgé wrong are increassged.
H: What time of day/uor week, or season of the year do you
work most productively?
D: Actually, I think I do work well two times a day. Unfortunately,
I don't do it very often. =Hii_yhis is roughly begfween 9:30 at

—

night and 1:30 in the morning. Amé- then if I am under pressure,

——

and I really have to get sogg damn thing out, Xif I get up early
in the morning around ,g’wgr t',;'clock, usually by the time the
‘rest of the family ghas slipped out of bed and getting ready to
have breakfast, I had already written three or four pages of
some material. But usually, I try to avoid thigs. I am a night
person. I can go on reading and just messing around the house
until two or three o'clock in the morning. But then getting up
in the morning for me is a tribulation of horrors.

H:What seems to inhibit you working productively?

D: Two things, my inate laziness and to ®&some degree family
responsibilities.

H: It is hard to _______ this dining room scene when the

place .

D: Exactly. She knows that there is a conference coming up \

and that the dining room is going to look like hell for about
M__———_
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three days. She can put up with that. But if I drag the stuff
out over and over again and proceeded to inconvenience everybody

in this fashion, I don't think that would go over terribly big.

H: Are you familiar with various stories and sudden insights

such as Newton and the apple, and the
experience? Could you tell me about any such experiences that
you have had?

D: Unfortunately, never. I have always...

H: Have you ever run through thistreet &naked looking for a
typewriter?

D: No, unfortunately nothing like that ever happened.
In the reflection period after I have read and I begin to see
things, obviously there are things that begin to take shape, but
there is never that great moment where some kind of tremendous
revslation comes. And I don't think this ever will be.

H: Do you think that there ever was?

D: I am quite sure that in the minds of some original thinkers
this is ture. I am not a terribly original thinker.

B: Yqu don't disbelieve those?

D: I don't disbelieve that it can happen. But then I am not

a or a Newton. I am not a Roto-Rooter man, but some

Yhere in between.

H: What do you see yourself doing ten years from now?

D: That I don't know and it frightens me. Not the uncertaintz)
that doesn't matter because after all your whole life is an

uncertain process. I somehow or another would be very, I am not

even sure that Ipould be terribly discappointed if I were still

—_——
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e running off three times a day to teach Western Civilization
courses and that sort of thing. Some where along the line
and I hope it will be soon, I would like to go to a new environment.
Either again on a trip to Europe to sort of recharge my battery,
to start on something new. This would obviously be after I have
completed my book. O%I would like to go to a new job. In the
sense that #ﬁon't want to become an electrician. I mean teach
medieval history at another place. Some how or another, I¥can
not see being in Tod Hall in 1985 doing the same things over and
over again.

H: You don't like the students? '

D: No, it has nothing to do with the students or prestige.
Look, I have been here ¢;gg;;‘ Hopefully)maybe in a year or
so I will be promoted to

)

still hav?gﬁter that 27 years till retirement. I mjust cannot'

professor at the age of 38. I

you know, the prospect of doing what I have been doing for the
last 10 years for another 27 years in basically the same way,

I don't consider this very exciting. I have no illusionks that

~J

some day the ﬁggf will ring and'HwMﬂbuﬁ will call and say that
hgw
they just don't know vthey have been able to get along without

me for so long and that I immediately report there. I wedd like

to go to a place of, if nothing else, to have a change of scenéry,
colltuqyyes

meet new people, new . To grow by this new experience.
& : <
H: You don't feel attachad T oA \6‘4\“—% .

D: Look, I have a mother who lives here who will probably
-Quwf‘ -ch(
retire in about 4 or ¥ years. If we would move to some other town,

she could live §in her apartment there was well as here. I have a
PR o
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brother who probably at the first good opportunity to come will
also leave, he is also in the academic field. My sisteriilives

in New York and my wife's parents live in Cieveland. We see

them six or seven times a years. Ig I lived in South Bend I

could see them that many #mtimes. If I lived in Seattiig, I would
see them once or twi;:! vgéo although I have actually gxown up

in this part of the United States since the gage of i@?'EEEZEow or
another I don't have this immense attachment to the place.

H: If eyou were to move into another period of history, back
to the period of 1938<¥o the present and you wanted to write an
encycfpedic history of that period, what would be some of the
Majin themes?

D: Well, obviously I would bring to the history of that
time a central European bias. Whether you call it a bias or an
insight dependgd on how you look at the thing. FAgain, I think

we have a tendency as Americans to look at things from a perspective

of a large nation. We can say very easily that Austria should

have behave in such fashion in 1938 in order to avoid the — ’
’ i ml&)(d i th W VS aAas~&
Again, this mis a=view from across the Atlantic, miles.

Not really aware of the .implications of the — ——— is toward
,Austria, not really knowing how stronJZbﬁe anti or pro Nazi the
Austrians :gg'and so forth. Sb if I wrote a history of this age,
and let me assure you that I have no intention of doing so, I
think I might be able to be a little more sympathetic to those
smaller nations of Europe, Belgufim, the Netherlands, Austriam,

2 CzechostovaKig
Hungary, gpecoslovika, who surrounded by much more powerful

netghbors—acted in the specific way often for no more noble
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than to save their skin or because there was no other alternative.
I think if there would be any merit @in anything that I wrote
it would probably be in this field because I have a more sympathetic
understanding of the practical realities of smaller nations emé
the problems that they face because they are small. You and I
can never understand how a midget feels. We see on campus here,
Sovr feax b\l Ywa Laok

one or two people who are ¥ or even qgaller. We see them
reach up for door knobs and what havéYou and say that that poor
guy is unfortunate. But this is basically about as far as we go.
We Americans look upon European policy and say well, the poor
bastards, thosgUkrainians, they really got it foom both ends.
But what it feels to be the son of a nation that is insignificant
W is something that an American will never understand, just like
you and I will never understand how it feels to reach up to that
door knob. I don't know if I am making myself clear.

H: Waould you have written that kind of history with that
kind of understanding, had you written this history ten yeats ago?

D: Cbviously not because even if I did nothing, read nothing,

just sat around for ten years and went to class and réapeated my

little speele,'that in itself would have matured me and I think <f
———wm\ . 1 -
each year adds a new demensionﬂs JXpohhnélfa00.
4

Thee Hort
H: perspective is really not something that is terribla

different from how you would have looked at things?

D: No, because ten years ago, I was a minority just like I
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am today, or a dg&endéﬁt of a minority in European politics.
But again I think I would be less impetuous, probably more
compaséonate. Again my years experience in Hungary would probably
come in here too again. The idea that the wonsgd is not populated
by people who are either red and white and black and blue or what
ever, but men are various shades. And I think as I pointed out,
that the smaller the nation, the more shades you have to have
in order to survive.

H: How does this affect your tReatment of the very powerful
states and the very powerfzﬁnzifders of these states?

D: I must say that IYhave an extremely difficult time
to be objective, and this is another reason why I am terribly
glad that I am not in this field. I to this day have certain
strong resentments toward various groups. Obviously towards
R;¢2i Germany ,Yhaving producted this holgggét brought down upon
mankind. I also have very strong dislikes or possibly even hatred‘:no
I don't think I am quite capable of hating, I have a strong

prejudice against the western allies who at Yalta and

-—

Sl
redrew Europe again because they were members of large nations
and did not take into account the lives of roughly seventy million
pPeople who might have wanted to shape their life differentlyk. To
encourage the Soviet Union to establish mdemocracy in Eastern
Europe, as FDR encouraged STalin to do, this I think is the height

n ri
of nibasam.t .

____/'"H:‘Q'ILMc %’w‘h e =
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D: My comment was or Rooseve*t?
H: Roosevelt.
D: I think it was :§nical or he was mislead, I am not going
to go into a long discussion of that. But the fact is that
people who have never had any quarrel with the United States,
really had no gquarrel with the Soviet Union. Where by these super
powers and England thrown in there, divided wup between the victors

in a&ay that I think in the long run I think that the world

was most unfortunate. Now this sense of

bitterness would be very difficult to leave out of a history if
I wrote a history of this period.

=
H: As sort of a side track here, what is your willingness
—
to forcast as some historians predict this and that.

= g ;>
.

D: Well, I am not in the prophesy business myself.

L
H: But twice today you saad¢—that events suggest future

developmelthk?
D: Well, this is basically an educated guess.
H: You were working as a professional?

D: No, I guess I am saying this because we are sitting here

hi'los Phl'CClQ
in my office in a discussion that is more phéééghiealiy that

historical.

H: As a human being then you don't feel at all that you can

ﬁorﬁcast the future?

D: Yes, but as a historian I would be most unwilling to do

SO.

H: YQu don't think this is appropriate for historians?
s o et Sk
/
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D: Oh,I guess that you can make educated guesses and I

defy you to find a historian, & most objective one, kkax who if

ou sit down with him as we are sitting here will not say "Well \Qﬂﬂl[b 2
‘-fhk—»'gultimately China and the Soviet Union will get at each others
| throat." I am not saying that this is what I predict. But I
am quite sure amYexpert like BFairbanks would probably have some

ideas.

H: Is this the same feeling that you feel

Does this enter into your
treatment of the fifteenth wmcentury in Hungary? '
D: What is that Don? The idea of a small nation being
pushed around byxsmaxixm large ones or what?
H: That is partly it, also the question of whether you do
mneed strong lea:;-ders in a country?
D: No, you see the whole situation changes drastically when
I get back to my period for the simple reason that this is &M.ﬂ\(
only time that Hungary was a world power or approaching it, in
Central Europe. The holy Roman Empire was in the m———ee ’

Poland was like always, usually divided internally, Bohemia

was run by between the em—____  and the\atholics.
Italy had its own problems. Hungary in the second half of the

-‘:htm%
+seh century was the most powerful state in Central Europe. So
the same xkind of concerns that I had expressed for the period

3
between 194 and today were, you have to look at things from
a Olver

perspective of smallfm did not apply to this particular case

to the period that I am working on there because this is exactly

the one timi,ir\{:robably all of its thousand year-history that



\
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Hungéry was not among Small powers.

H: Things got pretty bad immediately there after.

D: Yes, after 1536, yes. Now I have been toying with the
idea of eventually moving into the lé%grcentury . They are ‘
actually the parallels between my own experiences, the condﬂﬁgg‘p
in Eastern Europe today are quite striking. With the invasion of
the Turks the 150 occupation of portions of Eastern Europe by the
Turks, the constant attempts at "wars of liberation". The

almost colonial explotation is Xdefined by the Turks who believe

their country is and carry off not only money but

children troops and what have you. And

the obvious commercial and economic expbtation of Eastern Euraée‘by
~ pava el

the Soviet Union today. This would be an interesting paralell

and

and seeing too many parahelﬂs between the, two ages. So I might

-lﬁur¢¢b“¢h

be safer if I went back to the .l4th century.

I don't know if I mcould prevent myself from going over board

H: too popular back in Hungary?
D: I think you see again, everything can be written up

in such a fashion that it is Lo , that is another

art. Hungarians are very good at it.

H: Well}let me ask you one last question and then I will
leave you alone. Looking back over our five conversations over
a two week period Qdo you see any kind of themes or any patterns
in the way you worked and lived as a historian that strike you?

D: As unusual or any pattern as such?

H: No, if you were to describe yourself and your life as

a historian, are there any themes that swimerge to you?

e e e o
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| D: Don, I am sorry, I don't see any theme.

H: Any theme at all?

D: No, not really.

H: No, patterns at all?

D: I think my experiences in the field of history are not
dissimmilar to the experiences that any of my other C°lli%§hs would
probably have. Thett might be slightly colored by my agéin my
youth and the area in which I do my work, but generally I am not
sure that I see any pattern. KWhy do you? :

H: I am not sure, I had the feeling that I have only talked
to three of youand it is very difficult to...

D: Establish a pattern out of three examples.

H: Oh =msome thin%struck me being remark#ble sim#iyg&.
One think is early childhood and rel;%ént poverty in all three
cases.

D: You have talked to Sid and Lowell.

H: And a surprising continuatéon in the role and the concern

for money and making academic choices through at least the first

employsssee at Ygungstown.

- O
——

-In other ways there are very dramatic kinds of fdifferences.

D: Will you make other entries or do you think that the
sampling of three is sufficient?

H: Well}it is exhausted.

D: It is also exausting for you eto sit around for hours and
listening to coll%%ues BS for such an extended period is bad news.

e

H: Well, it was very interestin

e

et
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